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MORGUARD CORPOR ATION

Morguard Corporation is an integrated real estate 
organization, with more than 1,400 dedicated employees 
and more than $13.0 billion in assets owned and under 
management in North America at December 31, 2012. 
Morguard’s primary business strategy is to create 
shareholder value through stable and increasing cash flow 
and asset value by improving the performance of the  
real estate portfolio and by acquiring and developing  
real estate properties in sound economic markets. 
Morguard, a publicly traded company (TsX: MRC),  
has three primary businesses: 

Investments in Real Property. Morguard owns a 
diversified portfolio comprising more than 7.3 million  
square feet of commercial properties (retail, office  
and industrial) and over 12,100 multi-unit residential  
suites located in major cities across Canada and the  
United states. 

Real Estate Investment Trusts. Morguard is the major 
shareholder in two real estate investment trusts (ReITs): 
Morguard ReIT (TsX: MRT.UN) and the newly launched 
Morguard North American Residential ReIT (TsX: MRG.UN). 

Real Estate Investment Services. Morguard serves  
major institutional clients and private investors with a full 
range of real estate advisory and management services.  
Morguard offers a broad range of flexible, proven investment 
vehicles. It optimizes the performance of the entire portfolio 
through acquisition and development, asset management 
and property management. Morguard also provides portfolio 
management services, specializing in publicly traded real 
estate securities, through Morguard financial Corp.
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A YeAR Of AChIeVeMeNT

$1.5 bIllION IN ACQUIsITIONs
high-quality office, multi-unit residential and hotel properties located in major markets in Alberta,  
Ontario, Illinois and florida.

$816 MIllION IN fINANCING
Completed for the owned and managed portfolio at a weighted average interest rate of 3.61% for an 
average term of 7.4 years.

$1.1 bIllION IN DeVelOPMeNT PROjeCTs
In progress for office, retail, industrial and multi-unit residential asset classes, at December 31, 2012.

$383 MIllION RAIseD fROM PUblIC OffeRINGs
Generated from the launch of the new Morguard North American Residential ReIT and from  
Morguard ReIT. 

sTRONG PeRfORMANCe
Produced significant increases in ffO and net income, in addition to generating a 51.9% total return  
for shareholders.
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ChAIRMAN’s MessAGe

Identifying the potential of real estate, and then realizing that potential, is the core strength of  
Morguard Corporation. And in 2012, Morguard capitalized on a wide range of opportunities to realize 
impressive results for its shareholders. 

Major successes were achieved not only by Morguard 
Corporation itself, but also by the two publicly traded real 
estate investment trusts in which the Corporation holds 
majority interests – Morguard ReIT and the new Morguard 
North American Residential ReIT.

Morguard Corporation, Morguard ReIT and Morguard  
North American Residential ReIT all proved highly effective 
at realizing opportunities for growth. The achievements  
of Morguard, our affiliates and clients included substantial 
acquisitions worth a total of $1.5 billion; of these 
acquisitions, 28% were in the U.s., and 72% were in 
Canada. Morguard also successfully arranged a total  
of more than $816 million in financing in 2012 for our  
owned and managed portfolio. 

for Morguard Corporation, it was another year in which the 
assets in our portfolio delivered strong returns. Total revenues 
realized were $416 million, funds from operations reached 
$11.05 per share and net income was $389 million – all of 
these metrics are record achievements for the Company. 

Reflecting our success, shares of Morguard Corporation 
rose by 51% over the year. This appreciation in share price 
is especially gratifying given that the TsX and the TsX real 
estate indices posted returns of 7% and 20%, respectively.

Assets under management – including the substantial 
portfolio of properties owned directly by Morguard and  
the properties we manage for clients – is another key 
metric for the Company. Over the years, our management 
and advisory services group has developed strong 
relationships with institutional clients. Through those client 
relationships, and with the continued growth in our base  
of owned assets, total assets under management grew by 
14% to $13.0 billion from $11.4 billion in 2011. Meanwhile, 
revenue from management and advisory services 
increased by 3.1%.

Development was also a dominant story for Morguard 
Corporation. In 2012, the Company undertook five 
significant projects on our own behalf and for third party 
clients worth more than $1.1 billion at December 31, 2012. 
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as a notable symbol of our plans to expand in the U.s. 
and to increase the portfolio of high-quality core assets. 
Alta at K station, a leeD Gold certified high-rise residential 
rental complex, was purchased for approximately  
Us$302 million. The property includes 848 residential  
units and is located in Chicago’s West loop area, directly  
on the city’s urban rail system.

To take advantage of continuing low interest rates, in 2012 
Morguard undertook mortgage refinancing for our owned 
portfolio totalling $723 million at a weighted average 
interest rate of 3.60%. In comparison, Morguard’s mortgage 
refinancing activities totalled $454 million in 2011 at a 
weighted average interest rate of 4.31%.  

The host of activities undertook in 2012 not only produced 
impressive results, but further strengthened Morguard 
Corporation for future growth and success – both in Canada 
and increasingly in the U.s. 

With our strong balance sheet, the expertise of our people 
and the high quality of the assets in our portfolio, we are 
confident about Morguard Corporation’s future. equally, we 
are prudent in our criteria for investment in and development 
of well-located assets and in minimizing risk to continue 
delivering excellent returns to our shareholders.

K. (Rai) sahi 
Chairman and Chief executive Officer

Morguard Corporation’s owned developments in Ontario 
include Tweedsmuir Avenue, a residential twin tower  
in Toronto, and 150 elgin, an office complex in Ottawa.  

Another hallmark of the year was the performance of 
Morguard ReIT, of which Morguard Corporation owns 42.9%. 
The mandate of Morguard ReIT is to generate steady, 
dependable returns from its commercial portfolio. In 2012, 
Morguard ReIT realized its mandate with distinction.  
A major milestone for Morguard ReIT in 2012 was its 
purchase, for $366 million, of Penn West Plaza, a Class A 
twin tower office complex in Calgary, Alberta with more 
than 640,000 square feet of gross leasable area. With its 
well-diversified portfolio of retail, office and mixed-use 
commercial properties across Canada, Morguard ReIT 
generated net operating income of $142 million, up 6.4% 
over 2011. funds from operations totalled $83 million,  
an increase of 4.9% over 2011. 

A significant event in 2012 was the launch of the Morguard 
North American Residential ReIT, of which Morguard 
Corporation owned 57.1% at year end. for 2012, the ReIT 
achieved net operating income of $40.4 million and 
generated $19.7 million in funds from operations.

The new ReIT’s mandate is to hold multi-unit residential 
properties in both Canada and the U.s. It’s key objectives 
are to generate stable and growing cash distributions on  
a tax-efficient basis and to maximize long-term value for 
unitholders through acquisition and active asset and 
property management.

Over the course of the year, management of Morguard  
North American Residential ReIT focused on the acquisition 
and expansion of its portfolio of residential properties.  
The initial portfolio was purchased from Morguard 
Corporation and included 14 Canadian and three U.s. 
multi-unit residential properties, located in Ontario, Alberta 
and louisiana, with a total of more than 5,439 residential 
suites. subsequently, Morguard North American Residential 
ReIT purchased additional properties in florida, bringing  
the total number of residential suites to nearly 6,400 at the 
year end. In early 2013, the ReIT has closed or entered  
into binding agreements to acquire a total of almost  
4,800 residential suites in the U.s. – in Colorado, florida, 
Georgia, louisiana, North Carolina and Texas – for a total 
of Us$544 million. Once these transactions close, Morguard 
North American Residential ReIT will own interests in more 
than 11,000 suites in Canada and the U.s., with a value of 
approximately $1.5 billion.

for Morguard Corporation, enlarging and enhancing our 
portfolio of high-quality properties remains a key strategy. 
In 2012, a major acquisition in Chicago, Illinois served  

for Morguard Corporation, it was 
another year in which the assets in  
our portfolio delivered strong returns. 
Total revenues of Morguard Corporation 
in 2012 increased to $416 million, up 
6.3% from $391 million in 2011. 

 
ChAIRMAN’s MessAGe
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$1.5 bIllION IN ACQUIsITIONs

As an experienced investment manager, Morguard Corporation acquires properties for its own portfolio, 
as well as on behalf of institutional clients. In 2012, a total of $1.5 billion worth of acquisitions were made 
by Morguard Corporation for itself and on behalf of the two ReITs in which it holds majority interests, 
significantly enhancing their revenue-producing portfolios. 

Morguard Corporation 
Alta at K station, Chicago, Illinois
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Institutional Clients
$55 million in acquisitions

Morguard REIT 
Penn West Plaza, Calgary, Alberta

Morguard Corporation purchased a leeD Gold  
certified high-rise residential rental complex known as  
Alta at K station, in the West loop area of Chicago, Illinois,  
for approximately Us$302 million. The property includes  
two towers with 848 residential suites and more than  
12,000 square feet of high-calibre retail space. 
 
 
Morguard REIT (42.9% owned by Morguard Corporation) 
in October 2012 completed its purchase of a major Class A 
office property in Calgary, Alberta, known as Penn West 
Plaza for approximately $370 million.

Morguard North American Residential REIT (57.1%  
owned by Morguard Corporation) in its first year of 
operations purchased interests in 6,376 residential suites 
for a total of $778 million. 

 
$1.5 b IllION IN ACQUIsITIONs

Morguard North American Residential REIT  
Village Crossing, West Palm beach, florida

$1.5 bIllION  
IN ACQUIsITIONs 

Morguard Corporation
$333 million in acquisitions

Morguard REIT
$369 million in acquisitions

Morguard North American 
Residential REIT
$778 million in acquisitions1

1  Including acquisitions from 
Morguard Corporation
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$816 MIllION IN fINANCING

In 2012, a total of approximately $816 million in financing was arranged by management of Morguard 
Corporation and the two publicly traded trusts in which it has majority interests.

 Morguard Corporation
The Colonnade, Toronto, Ontario

Morguard’s business model includes the effective  
and moderate use of leverage. At December 31, 2012, 
Morguard’s debt as a percentage of total assets was 39.2%. 
The Company will remain conservative in terms of how it 
deploys mortgage debt. Morguard’s weighted average 
interest rate at December 31, 2012, was 4.70%, down from 
5.05% a year earlier. 

Institutional Clients
$93 million in financing

Morguard Corporation
$411 million in financing

Morguard REIT
$245 million in financing

Morguard North American 
Residential REIT
$67 million in financing

$816 MIllION  
IN fINANCING 
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Morguard Corporation/Morguard REIT
Place Innovation, saint-laurent, Quebec

Morguard Corporation
77 City Centre Drive, Mississauga, Ontario

Morguard Corporation
lantana Plaza, lake Worth, florida

 
$816 MIllION IN fINANCING

 
WeIGhTeD AVeRAGe  
INTeResT RATe1 

08

4.70%
5.05%

5.21%5.31%5.44%

09 10 11 12

1  for Morguard Corporation and  
consolidated subsidiaries 
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$1.1 bIllION IN DeVelOPMeNT PROjeCTs

As a fully integrated real estate company, Morguard Corporation continues to realize growth through 
calculated development projects led by an experienced in-house team of professionals. The past year 
was an exceptionally active one, with more than $1.1 billion under development. 

 Morguard Corporation
Tweedsmuir Avenue, Toronto, Ontario

Morguard Corporation/Institutional Client
Performance Court, 150 elgin street, Ottawa, Ontario

Tweedsmuir Avenue, Toronto, is a major residential 
project being completed in two phases, with a total budget 
of almost $193 million. The development involves two 
30-storey residential towers that have a total of 591 units. 
The project is located on a 2.3-acre site in midtown Toronto 
on the edge of the desirable forest hill Village area.

 
Performance Court, 150 Elgin Street, Ottawa, is a 
360,000-square-foot leeD Gold, Class A office tower  
with a budget of almost $164 million. This is an urban infill 
project, designed to be an exciting addition to downtown 
Ottawa, with unsurpassed views of Parliament hill and  
the Rideau Canal. This project is a joint venture between 
Morguard Corporation and an institutional client. 

Morguard Corporation
$415 million in development

Institutional Clients
$680 million in development

Morguard REIT
$28 million in development

$1.1 bIllION  
IN DeVelOPMeNT 
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Quinte Courthouse, Belleville, Ontario, involves 
construction of a leeD silver six-storey tower and will 
include 175,000 square feet of space with 10 courtrooms. 
The project is a partnership between Morguard 
Corporation and brookfield Infrastructure Partners. 

 
Uptown, Victoria, B.C., is an innovative mixed-use 
complex built to leeD Gold standards. Morguard has  
been developing this project for an institutional client. 
 
 
11th Avenue Place, Calgary, is a leeD Gold office project. 
It will have 198,000 square feet of space in a 10-storey 
building. Morguard is developing this project for an 
institutional client.

 
Robson Street, Vancouver, is a redevelopment project 
involving the renovation of an existing mixed-use heritage 
building. The completed building will have 151,000 square 
feet of space. Morguard is redeveloping this project for an 
institutional client.

Morguard Corporation partnership
Quinte Courthouse, belleville, Ontario

Institutional Client
Uptown, Victoria, british Columbia

 
$1.1 b IllION IN DeVelOPMeNT PROjeCTs



10 Morguard corpor ation

$383 MIllION RAIseD fROM PUblIC OffeRINGs

Attracting large sums of investment capital was a major accomplishment in 2012 – with a total of  
$383 million in public offerings. These successes demonstrate the confidence that investors have  
in Morguard’s ability to find the potential in real estate, both residential and commercial, and then  
capitalize on that potential.

Morguard North American Residential REIT
The elmwoods, Mississauga, Ontario
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Morguard North American Residential REIT launched  
in the spring of 2012 raising a total of $83 million from  
the sale of 8.3 million trust units, issued at $10.00 per unit.  
A few months later the ReIT completed a larger public 
offering of trust units on a bought-deal basis, raising a  
total of $151 million from the sale of 12.7 million trust  
units at a price of $11.85 per unit. Through these two 
substantial public offerings, the new ReIT raised more  
than $233 million. In March 2013, the ReIT completed  
a further public offering that raised $95 million from the 
issuance of 8.3 million trust units and an additional  
$60 million was raised by issuing 4.65% convertible 
unsecured subordinate five-year debentures.

Morguard REIT also raised capital and refinanced debt  
in 2012. In October, the Trust sold $150 million of 4.85% 
convertible unsecured subordinated five-year debentures. 

Morguard North American Residential REIT  
Woodbine Apartments, West Palm beach, florida

Morguard REIT 
Penn West Plaza, Calgary, Alberta

 
$383 MIllION R AIseD fROM PUblIC OffeRINGs

$383  
MIllION  
IN PUblIC 

OffeRINGs

Morguard REIT
$150 million

Morguard North American
Residential REIT
$233 million
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sTRONG PeRfORMANCe  

Morguard Corporation recorded strong growth and financial performance in 2012, and has created  
an efficient and broad platform in North America.

Real Estate Advisory and Management Services 
continued to enhance their strong relationships with 
institutional clients, while Morguard’s own property portfolio 
grew and increased in value. The result was that total 
assets under management increased by 14% to $13.0 billion 
from $11.4 billion in 2011. 

 
Morguard Financial continued to manage equity  
and fixed-income portfolios for institutional, retail and 
high-net-worth investors and was rewarded with a 
Thomson Reuters lipper award for the third consecutive 
year due to outstanding performance. 

Morguard Corporation
55 City Centre Drive, Mississauga, Ontario

Morguard Corporation
boynton Town Center, boynton beach, florida

 
NeT OPeRATING INCOMe  
(IN MIllIONs Of DOllARs)

08

$171
$163

$155$151$147

09

CGAAP

10 11 12
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Morguard Corporation/Institutional Clients
bramalea City Centre, brampton, Ontario

Morguard’s Corporate Sustainability Report,  
Building a Sustainable Future, was released in 2012.  
The report highlights the Company’s commitment to 
environmental, social and governance initiatives. Among 
the highlights are a significant utility cost reduction in 2011,  
a 46% increase in bOMA best green building certifications 
(from 46 to 67 total properties in 2011) and four leeD 
certified buildings in operation and several new developments 
targeting leeD in progress. 

 
The Morguard’s brand equity is one of our most valuable 
assets. It included developing a distinctive new look and 
feel for our organization worldwide and a new tagline to 
reflect our strong track record of year-over-year growth, 
profitability and performance and to summarize Morguard’s 
promise to its clients and investors – Real Estate 
Potential. Realized.

 
sTRONG PeRfORMANCe

 
OWNeD AsseTs  
(IN bIllIONs Of DOllARs)

08

$3.99

$3.14
$2.77

$1.83$1.96

09

CGAAP

10 11 12

 
TOTAl ReVeNUe 
(IN MIllIONs Of DOllARs)

08

$416
$391

$364
$349$356

09

CGAAP

10 11 12

 
fUNDs fROM OPeRATIONs 
(IN MIllIONs Of DOllARs)

08

$142
$129

$115$114$116

09

CGAAP

10 11 12
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PORTfOlIO sUMMARY

Quality and geographic diversification are two hallmarks of Morguard Corporation’s portfolio of multi-unit 
residential, retail, office and industrial properties. As well, Morguard Corporation owns a 42.9% interest  
in Morguard ReIT and a 57.1% effective interest in Morguard North American Residential ReIT – whose 
portfolios are also shown here. Together, their properties are found in prime locations across North America.

MORGUARD CORPORATION

Multi-Unit Residential Properties
Property Region No. of Units

Canada
The bay Club ON 293
The Colonnade ON 157
1563 Mississauga Valley blvd. ON 168
1405 Mississauga Valley blvd. ON 168
leaside Towers ON 989
131 Queen street ON 36
Condominium Units ON 4
Subtotal  1,815

United States
bel Air Al 202
hampton Park Al 300
lafayette square Al 675
Pine bend Al 152
emerald lake fl 336
Governors Gate fl 240
Governors Gate II fl 204
jamestown fl 177
Woodcliff fl 184
Alta at K station Il 848
Colonial Manor lA 48
Garden lane lA 262
Georgian lA 135
Greenbrier lA 144
Riva Pointe (51%) Nj 12
Subtotal  3,919 
Total Multi-Unit Residential Units  5,734

Office/Industrial/Hotel
Property Region leasable sq. ft.

Canada
444 st. Mary Avenue (20%) Mb 53,000
saint john City hall (50%) Nb 79,500
4211 Albert street sK 37,500
bramalea City Centre (20.7%) ON 16,500
Creekside Corporate Centre ON 301,500
Mississauga City Centre (50%) ON 397,500
Toronto Airport Marriott ON 165,000
945 Wilson Avenue (32%) ON 73,000
181 Queen street ON 251,500
131 Queen street ON 329,500
65 Overlea boulevard (95%) ON 88,500
350/361 sparks street (50%) ON 218,500
2920 Matheson blvd. east (50%) ON 115,500
Place Innovation (50%) QC 449,000
Industrial Portfolio Various 528,000 
Total Office/Industrial/Hotel  3,104,000

Retail Properties
Property Region leasable sq. ft.

Canada
Prairie Mall (50%) Ab 147,500
bramalea City Centre (20.7%) ON 289,500
Centerpoint ON 607,500
Charles Promenade (75%) ON – 
The Colonnade  ON 96,000
east York Town Centre ON 383,500
Guildwood Village ON 52,500
100 Cavell Avenue ON 5,500
Yonge McGill ON 7,500
Subtotal   1,589,500

United States
boynton Town Center fl 209,500
florida shores fl 79,500
lantana Plaza fl 245,500
Rainbow square fl 116,000
Town & Country fl 196,500
Weeki Wachee Village fl 82,500
Westward fl 230,000
Airline Park lA 54,000
Azalea Gardens lA 45,000
Colonial lA 44,000
Gonzales Plaza lA 73,000
North shore square lA 429,500
southland Mall lA 445,000
southwood lA 40,000
Westgate lA 175,500
Westland lA 106,000
Alta at K station Il 13,000
Subtotal  2,584,500 
Total Retail Leasable Sq. Ft.  4,174,000

5,734 sUITes
TOTAl MUlTI-UNIT ResIDeNTIAl UNITs 

7,278,000 sQ. fT.
TOTAl COMMeRCIAl leAsAble sQ. fT.
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MORGUARD ReIT

MORGUARD NORTh AMeRICAN ResIDeNTIAl ReIT

 
PORTfOlIO sUMMARY

Retail Properties
Property Region leasable sq. ft.

burquitlam Plaza bC 72,000
shelbourne Plaza bC 57,000
Airdrie Co-op Centre Ab 65,000
Airdrie Rona Centre Ab 44,000
heritage Towne Centre Ab 133,500
Parkland Mall Ab 429,000
Prairie Mall (50%) Ab 147,500 
The Centre at Circle & eighth sK 490,000
brandon shoppers Mall Mb 365,500
Charleswood Centre Mb 115,000
southdale Mall Mb 175,500
Aurora Centre ON 288,500
Cambridge Centre ON 720,000
hampton Park  ON 102,000
home base ON 10,000
Kingsbury Centre ON 70,000
Market square ON 58,000
st. laurent Centre ON 853,000
Wonderland Corners ON 47,500
Woodbridge square (50%) ON 56,000 
Total Retail Leasable Sq. Ft.  4,299,000

Industrial/Other Properties
Property Region leasable sq. ft.

1875 leslie ON 52,000
5591-5631 finch ON 210,000
535 Coventry ON 29,000
361 Queen (50%) ON 132,500
20-24 lesmill ON 27,500
2041-2141 McCowan  ON 197,500
279 Yorkland ON 18,000
285 Yorkland ON 25,000
825 Des Érables (50%) QC 242,500 
Total Industrial/Others  Leasable Sq. Ft.  934,000

Office
Property Region leasable sq. ft.

Chancery Place bC 140,000
111 Dunsmuir bC 222,000
seymour Place bC 239,000
Alberta Treasury Ab 41,500
7315 – eighth street Ab 19,500
Centre 810 Ab 77,500
Citadel West (50%) Ab 39,000
Deerport Centre Ab 47,500
Duncan building Ab 78,000
505 Third street (50%) Ab 71,000 
Petroleum Plaza (50%) Ab 152,000
scotia Place (20%) Ab 116,000
Penn West Plaza Ab 636,500
Cedar Pointe business Park ON 351,500
525 Coventry  ON 42,500
Green Valley Office Park ON 123,000
heritage Place (50%) ON 115,000
st. laurent business Centre ON 88,000
77 bloor (50%) ON 185,000
standard life Centre (50%) ON 190,500
350 sparks (50%) ON 86,500
Time square ON 111,000
200 Yorkland ON 148,000
Centre de la Cité QC 128,000
Place Innovation (50%) QC 455,000 
Total Office Leasable Sq. Ft.  3,903,500

Multi-Unit Residential
Property Region No. of Units

Canada
square 104 Ab  277 
The Arista ON  458 
The elmwoods ON  321 
The forestwoods ON  300 
The Maplewoods ON  300 
Margaret Place ON  472 
Meadowvale Gardens ON  325 
Rideau Towers 1 ON  287 
Rideau Towers 2 ON  380 
Rideau Towers 3 ON  474 
Rideau Towers 4 ON  400 
Rouge Valley Residence ON  396 
Tomken Place ON  142 
The Valleywoods ON  373 
Subtotal   4,905 

Multi-Unit Residential
Property Region No. of Units

United States
blue Isle fl  340 
Village Crossing fl  189 
Woodbine fl  408 
Magnolia Place lA  148 
steeplechase lA  192 
Villages of Williamsburg lA  194 
Subtotal   1,471  
Total Multi-Unit Residential Units  6,376

6,376 sUITes
TOTAl MUlTI-UNIT ResIDeNTIAl UNITs 

9,136,500 sQ. fT.
TOTAl COMMeRCIAl leAsAble sQ. fT.
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The bay Club, 
Toronto, Ontario
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Income Statement Financial Highlights

Years ended December 31   
(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)   2012 2011 2010

Revenue from real estate properties $  313,715  $  297,265  $  284,184 
Net operating income $  171,343  $  163,343  $  155,122 
Management and advisory fees $  75,858  $  73,556  $  65,255 
Property management and corporate $  (66,127) $  (58,605) $  (57,934)
equity income from Morguard ReIT $  77,929  $  68,153  $  78,605 
 
ebITDA $  260,738  $  248,218  $  243,136 
Interest expense $  (71,140) $  (71,172) $  (69,917)
fair value gains on real estate properties $  226,070  $  180,226  $  73,578 
 
Net income attributable to common shareholders $  389,443  $  288,026  $  195,620 
Net income per share $  30.31  $  22.22  $  14.42 
        
funds from operations $  141,982  $  128,609  $  114,692 
funds from operations per share $ 11.05  $ 9.92  $ 8.46 

 

Balance Sheet Financial Highlights         

Years ended December 31   
(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)   2012 2011 2010

Real estate properties $ 3,329,083 $ 2,611,524 $ 2,281,682
Investment in Morguard ReIT $  661,150  $  529,859  $  484,560 
Mortgages and loans receivable  $  42,317  $  76,887  $  85,339 
Amounts receivables $  33,622  $  34,566  $  30,266 
Cash and cash equivalents $  78,418  $  28,755  $  27,694 
Total assets $  4,386,182  $  3,467,210  $  3,007,962 
        
Mortgages payable $  1,544,831  $  1,310,264  $  1,212,625 
bank indebtedness $  144,921  $  75,539  $  43,805 
loans payable and construction financing $  29,319  $  –    $  27,066 
Debt to total assets %  39.2    40.3    42.9 
        
shareholders’ equity $  2,049,679  $  1,684,555  $  1,387,227 
book value per share $  160.48  $  130.09  $  106.99 
Number of shares outstanding   12,772    12,949    12,966

fINANCIAl hIGhlIGhTs
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MANAGeMeNT’s DIsCUssION  
AND ANAlYsIs
for the year ended December 31, 2012
(All amounts are stated in thousands of Canadian dollars except per share amounts)

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT TO SHAREHOLdERS

The Company is pleased to provide this review of operations and update on our financial performance for the year ended 
December 31, 2012. All amounts are stated in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted and except share, 
and per share amounts.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) sets out Morguard Corporation’s (“Morguard” or the “Company”) 
strategies and provides an analysis of the financial performance for 2012, significant risks facing the business and 
management’s outlook for 2013. historical results, including trends that might appear, should not be taken as indicative  
of future operations or results.

This MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements and the 
accompanying notes for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011. This MD&A is based on financial statements 
prepared in accordance with International financial Reporting standards (“IfRs”) and is dated March 6, 2013.
Disclosure contained in this document is current to that date, unless otherwise noted. 

Additional information relating to Morguard Corporation, including the Company’s Annual Information form, can be found 
at www.sedar.com and www.morguard.com.

FORWARd- LOOKING STATEMENTS dISCL AIMER

statements contained herein that are not based on historical or current fact, including without limitation statements 
containing the words “anticipate,” “believe,” “may,” “continue,” “estimate,” “expect” and “will” and words of similar expression, 
constitute “forward-looking statements.” such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties 
and other factors that may cause the actual results, events or developments to be materially different from any future 
results, events or developments expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. such factors include, among 
others, the following: general economic and business conditions, both nationally and in the regions in which the Company 
operates; changes in business strategy or development/acquisition plans; environmental exposures; financing risk; existing 
governmental regulations and changes in, or the failure to comply with, governmental regulations; liability and other claims 
asserted against the Company; and other factors referred to in the Company’s filings with Canadian securities regulators. 
Given these uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements. The Company 
does not assume the obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements.

NON- IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES

The Company reports its financial results in accordance with IfRs. however, in this MD&A we also use certain non-IfRs 
financial measures, including funds from operations (“ffO”). This measure is commonly used by entities in the real estate 
industry as a useful metric for measuring performance but does not have any standardized meaning prescribed by IfRs 
and is not necessarily comparable to similar measures presented by other real estate entities. This measure should be 
considered as supplemental in nature and not a substitute for related financial information prepared in accordance with IfRs.

ffO is an industry standard for evaluating operating performance but is not indicative of funds available to meet the 
Company’s cash requirements. ffO is computed by the Company in accordance with the current definition of the Real 
Property Association of Canada (“ReAlpac”) and is defined as net income attributable to common shareholders plus 
deferred income taxes and excludes fair value changes on real estate properties, fair value changes on Morguard 
Residential ReIT Units and changes from the sale of real estate property and includes the Company’s proportionate  
share of Morguard ReIT’s ffO. 
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Morguard Corporation is a real estate investment company whose principal activities include the acquisition and ownership 
of commercial and multi-unit residential real estate properties. Morguard is also one of Canada’s premier real estate 
investment advisors and management companies, representing major institutional and private investors. The Company’s 
common shares are publicly traded and listed on the Toronto stock exchange (the “TsX”) under the symbol “MRC.”  
The Company’s primary goal is to accumulate a portfolio of high-quality real estate assets and then deliver the benefits  
of such real estate ownership to shareholders. 

The Company owns a diversified portfolio of 103 multi-unit residential, retail, office and industrial properties located in 
Canada and in the United states. The Company also owns interests in 143 acres of developable land. The composition  
of the Company’s real estate assets by asset type as at December 31, 2012, was as follows:

            december 31,
           2012
     GlA    Real Estate  Net Operating
   Number of  square feet  Apartment  Properties  Income
Type  Properties  (thousands)  suites  (thousands)  (thousands)

Multi-unit residential – Canada  18  –  6,720 $ 1,120,449 $ 53,953
Multi-unit residential – U.s.  21  –  5,390  637,830  19,615
Retail – Canada  9  1,589  –  460,577  32,832
Retail – U.s.  16  2,584  –  323,372  23,609
Office and industrial  39  2,940  –  648,460  41,334
Properties and land held for and under development   –  –  –  138,395  –

Total  103  7,113  12,110 $ 3,329,083 $ 171,343

Portfolio Composition by Type
The Company’s Canadian multi-unit residential portfolio comprises 16 high-rise buildings and two low-rise buildings located 
primarily throughout the Greater Toronto Area. The U.s. multi-unit residential portfolio consists of one high-rise building  
in Chicago, Illinois, one mid-rise and 19 low-rise, garden-style communities located in Alabama, florida, louisiana and 
New jersey. The combined multi-unit residential portfolio represents 12,110 units.

The Company’s Canadian retail portfolio comprises ownership interests in three enclosed shopping malls, a 20.7% interest 
in a regional shopping mall, four neighbourhood retail centres and a mixed-use property located in downtown Toronto, Ontario. 
The U.s. retail portfolio consists of two enclosed shopping malls and 14 neighbourhood retail centres located in florida 
and louisiana. The combined retail portfolio represents 4.2 million square feet of gross leasable area (“GlA”). 

The Company’s office portfolio is focused on well-located, high-quality office buildings in major urban centres primarily 
located throughout the Greater Toronto Area, downtown Ottawa, Ontario, and Montreal, Quebec. The portfolio is a  
mix of single-tenant buildings and multi-tenant properties. The Company’s industrial portfolio comprises 24 properties  
located throughout Ontario, Quebec and british Columbia. The total office and industrial portfolio represents  
2.9 million square feet of GlA. 

Advisory Services 
The Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, Morguard Investments limited (“MIl”), provides real estate management 
services to Canadian institutional investors. services include acquisitions, development, dispositions, leasing, performance 
measurement, and asset and property management. for almost 35 years, MIl has positioned itself as one of Canada’s 
leading providers of real estate portfolio and asset and property management services. As of December 31, 2012, MIl’s 
managed portfolio (excluding Morguard’s corporately owned assets and assets owned by Morguard ReIT) of retail, office 
and industrial properties consisted of approximately 40 million square feet of GlA and had an estimated value in excess  
of $7 billion. 



20 Morguard corpor ation

 
ManageMent’s discussion and analysis

Morguard Real Estate Investment Trust
On December 31, 2012, the Company owned a 42.9% (December 31, 2011 – 44.8%) interest in Morguard Real estate 
Investment Trust (“Morguard ReIT”). Morguard ReIT is an unincorporated “closed-end” Trust, governed by the laws of the 
Province of Ontario. Morguard ReIT’s units are publicly traded and listed on the TsX under the symbol “MRT.UN.” As at 
December 31, 2012, Morguard ReIT owned a diversified real estate portfolio of 54 retail, office and mixed-use properties 
consisting of approximately 9.2 million square feet of GlA located in the provinces of Ontario, british Columbia, Alberta, 
saskatchewan, Manitoba and Quebec. The composition of Morguard ReIT’s real estate assets by asset type as at 
December 31, 2012, was as follows:

            december 31,
           2012
       GlA  Real Estate  Net Operating
     Number of  square feet  Properties  Income
Type    Properties  (thousands)  (thousands)  (thousands)

Retail    20  4,299 $ 1,340,024 $ 79,230
Office    25  3,904  1,259,544  58,230
Other    9  950  75,672  4,927

Total    54  9,153 $ 2,675,240 $ 142,387

Morguard North American Residential Real Estate Investment Trust
On April 18, 2012, the Company completed an initial public offering (“the IPO”) of trust units of Morguard North American 
Residential Real estate Investment Trust (“Morguard Residential ReIT” or “the ReIT”). The Offering initially raised gross 
proceeds of $75,000. A total of 7,500,000 trust units were sold at a price of $10.00 per trust unit. On April 24, 2012, the 
underwriters exercised in full their over-allotment option to purchase 750,000 additional trust units at a price of $10.00  
per trust unit, which increased the total gross proceeds of the Offering to $82,500. The total proceeds received, net of 
underwriters’ commission, was $77,550. The trust units of the ReIT (“Units”) trade on the TsX under the symbol “MRG.UN.” 

Morguard has accounted for the transaction as a reorganization and recapitalization of its existing operations. The Units  
of the ReIT are redeemable at the option of the holder and, therefore, are considered puttable instruments that meet the 
definition of a financial liability under International Accounting standards 32, “financial Instruments – Presentation”  
(“IAs 32”). Whereas certain exceptions in IAs 32 allow the ReIT to classify the Units as equity in its own balance sheet, 
these exceptions are not available to the Company, and therefore the non-controlling interest that these Units represent  
is classified as a liability in the financial statements of the Company. The Units are measured at their redemption amount  
with changes in the redemption amount recorded in income in the period of change. 

On september 12, 2012, the ReIT completed the offering of $150,732 for 12,720,000 Units sold at a price of $11.85 per Unit. 
The proceeds of the offering, after underwriters’ commission, were $146,703. Morguard acquired 4,220,000 of the Units 
issued on september 12, 2012. 

During the quarter ended December 31, 2012, the Company purchased 355,166 Units of Morguard Residential ReIT in 
open-market transactions at an average price of $11.24 per Unit. At December 31, 2012, Morguard owned a 57.1% effective 
interest in Morguard Residential ReIT.

BUSINESS STR ATEGY

Morguard’s strategy is to acquire a diversified portfolio of commercial and multi-unit residential real estate assets both for 
its own accounts and for its institutional clients. Diversification of the portfolio, by both product type and geographic location, 
serves to reduce investment risk. The Company will divest itself of non-core assets when proceeds can be reinvested to 
improve returns. A primary element of the Company’s business strategy is to generate stable and increasing cash flow and 
asset value by improving the performance of its real estate investment portfolio and by acquiring or developing real estate 
properties in sound economic markets. The Company’s business strategy consists of the following elements:
• Increase property values and cash flow through aggressive leasing of available space and of space becoming available;
• Take advantage of long-standing relationships with national and regional tenants;
• Increase portfolio of third-party assets under management;
• Target and execute redevelopment and expansion projects that will generate substantial returns;
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• Pursue opportunities to acquire or develop strategically located properties;
•  Minimize operating costs by utilizing internalized functions, including property and asset management, leasing, finance, 

accounting, legal and information technology services; and
• Dispose of properties where the cash flows and values have been maximized.

SELECTEd ANNUAL INFORMATION

Table 1: Selected Annual Information

As at December 31
(In thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)  2012 2011 2010

Total revenue $ 415,917 $ 391,145 $ 363,836

Net operating income  171,343  163,343  155,122
fair value gains on real estate properties  226,070  180,226  73,578
fair value loss on Morguard Residential ReIT Units  (3,883)  –  –

Net income attributable to common shareholders  389,443  288,026  195,620
Per share – basic and diluted  30.31  22.22  14.42

funds from operations  141,982  128,609  114,692
Per share – basic and diluted  11.05  9.92  8.46

Real estate properties, net  3,329,083  2,611,524  2,281,682
Investment in Morguard ReIT  661,150  529,859  484,560
Total assets  4,386,182  3,467,210  3,007,962
Total long-term debt and bank indebtedness1  1,719,071  1,385,803  1,283,496
Debt to total assets (%)  39.2  40.3  42.9
Morguard Residential ReIT Units  165,390  –  –

Cash distributions received from Morguard ReIT  24,912  23,285  23,060
Cash dividends paid  7,557  7,705  7,990

U.s. dollar to Canadian dollar exchange rates
     Average during the year  0.9996  0.9891  1.0303
     At December 31  0.9949  1.0170  0.9946

1  Total long–term debt is defined as the sum of the current and non-current portion of (i) mortgages, (ii) bank indebtedness, (iii) loan payable and (iv) construction financing.

Total revenues increased in 2012 by $24,772 to $415,917 compared to $391,145 in 2011. The increase was primarily the 
result of an increase in revenue from real estate properties in the amount of $16,450, an increase in management and 
advisory fees of $2,302 and an increase in interest and other income of $6,635. 

Total assets at December 31, 2012, were $4,386,182 compared to $3,467,210 as at December 31, 2011. Total assets 
increased by $918,972 primarily due to an increase in real estate properties of $717,559, which increased due to acquisitions 
of $404,642, capital and development expenditures of $116,925 and fair value gains of $226,070 incurred in 2012.

REVIEW OF OPER ATIONAL RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENdEd dECEMBER 31, 2012

The Company’s net income attributable to common shareholders for the year ended December 31, 2012, was $389,443 
($30.31 per share) compared to $288,026 ($22.22 per share) for the same period in 2011. The increase in net income  
of $101,417 for the year ended December 31, 2012, was primarily due to an increase in fair value gains on real estate 
properties of $45,844, an increase in net operating income of $8,000, an increase in revenue from management and advisory 
fees of $2,302, an increase in interest and other income of $6,635, an increase in equity income from Morguard ReIT  
of $9,776, a gain on sale of marketable securities of $13,598, an increase in other income of $2,883 and a decrease in 
income taxes of $24,553. These items were partially offset by an increase in property management and corporate  
expense of $7,522 and a net fair value loss of $3,883 on the Morguard Residential ReIT Units. 
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AVER AGE OCCUPANCY LEVELS

Table 2: Comparative Average Occupancy Levels 

  square feet/  december september june March December
  Units1 2012 2012 2012 2012 2011

Multi-unit residential – Canada   6,720  97.9%  98.1%  98.3%  98.5%  98.8%
Multi-unit residential – U.s.   5,390  93.3%  92.9%  91.9%  91.4%  92.6%
Retail – Canada   1,589,331  96.9%  96.8%  96.6%  96.6%  96.9%
Retail – U.s.   2,584,329  93.1%  91.3%  91.6%  92.6%  93.0%
Office and industrial    2,939,959  89.4%  88.8%  92.2%  92.4%  92.3%

1 As at December 31, 2012.

NET OPER ATING INCOME

Net operating income (“NOI”) is an additional IfRs measure and is used by industry analysts, investors and management  
to measure operating performance at the Company’s properties. NOI represents revenue from income producing 
properties less property operating costs and realty tax expense as presented in the consolidated statement of income.  
NOI is not a measure defined by IfRs and, accordingly, the term does not necessarily have a standardized meaning  
and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other publicly traded entities.

Net operating income increased by $8,000, or 4.9%, during the year ended December 31, 2012, to $171,343 compared to 
$163,343 generated in 2011. The Company’s NOI is further analyzed by property type in Table 3 below.

Table 3: Net Operating Income by Property Type 

Years ended December 31
(In thousands of dollars)   2012 2011

Net operating income – Canadian properties
     Multi-unit residential – Canada   $ 53,953 $ 52,341
     Retail – Canada    32,832  30,931
     Office and industrial    41,334  41,603

     128,119  124,875

Net operating income – U.s. properties in U.s. dollars
Multi-unit residential – U.s.   US$ 19,623 Us$ 16,983
Retail – U.s.   US$ 23,618 Us$ 21,890

    US$ 43,241 Us$ 38,873
exchange amount to Canadian dollars    0.9996  0.9896

Net operating income – U.s. properties in Canadian dollars    43,224  38,468

Net operating income   $ 171,343 $ 163,343

Net operating income from the Canadian multi-unit residential properties for the year ended December 31, 2012, increased 
by $1,612, or 3.1%, compared to 2011. The increase is primarily due to higher rental rates achieved as a result of a higher 
guideline increase from 0.7% in 2011 to 3.1% in 2012. 

Net operating income from the Canadian retail properties for the year ended December 31, 2012, increased by $1,901,  
or 6.1%, to $32,832 compared to $30,931 in 2011. The increase is mainly due to increased rental rates, higher percentage 
rent and an increase in occupancy at the redeveloped bramalea City Centre.

Net operating income from the office and industrial properties for the year ended December 31, 2012, decreased by $269 
to $41,334 compared to $41,603 in 2011. The decrease is primarily as a result of an increase in vacancy at three office 
properties, which was partially offset by a lease cancellation fee received at one of the office properties. The decrease  
was also offset by an increase in occupancy in the industrial portfolio.
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Net operating income from the U.s. multi-unit residential properties increased by Us$2,640, or 15.5%, for the year ended 
December 31, 2012, to Us$19,623 compared to Us$16,983 for the same period in 2011. The increase is predominantly 
due to the acquisition of Village Crossing in December 2011, the acquisitions of Woodbine Apartments and blue Isle 
Apartments in florida in August 2012 and the acquisition of Alta at K station in Chicago in December 2012, which increased 
NOI by Us$3,416 in 2012. The positive impact of the acquisitions was partially offset by an increase in rent concessions 
and expenditures of Us$331 incurred as a result of damages caused by hurricane Isaac. The change in the foreign 
exchange rate increased reported NOI by $170. 

Net operating income from the U.s. retail properties increased by Us$1,728, or 7.9%, for the year ended December 31, 2012, 
to Us$23,618 compared to Us$21,890 for the same period in 2011. The increase is predominantly due to the acquisition  
in february 2011 of boynton Town Center and the acquisition of land at Westland and the remaining 50% interest in 
southwood in August 2011, which increased NOI by Us$1,351. The change in the foreign exchange rate increased 
reported NOI by $218. 

Table 4: Comparative Net Operating Income 

Years ended December 31
(In thousands of dollars)   2012 2011

Multi-unit residential – Canada   $ 53,521 $ 52,421
Multi-unit residential – U.s.    16,524  16,788
Retail – Canada    32,332  30,470
Retail – U.s.    22,095  21,143
Office and industrial – Canada    41,734  41,712

Comparative NOI1    166,206  162,534
straight-line rent    645  234
Acquired properties    4,374  12
Canadian and U.s. retail – lease cancellation/settlement    449  563
Other    (331)  –

Net operating income   $ 171,343 $ 163,343

1 Comparative NOI refers to those income producing properties owned by the Company in both periods.

The Company believes it is useful to provide an analysis of comparative NOI, which eliminates non-recurring and  
non-cash items. Comparative NOI increased by $3,672, or 2.3%, to $166,206 during the year ended December 31, 2012, 
as compared to $162,534 in 2011. The change in the foreign exchange rate increased reported comparative NOI for the 
U.s. properties by $403.

Management and Other Operations
Morguard’s management and advisory fee revenue for the year ended December 31, 2012, was $75,858 compared to 
$73,556 in 2011. The increase of $2,302, or 3.1%, is primarily the result of an increase in asset management fees of  
$1,078 as a result of a larger portfolio, an increase in leasing fees of $2,633 and an increase in development fees of $1,190. 
These items were partially offset by lower consulting fees of $2,684.

The Company also generated a net profit from the sale of land and product of $1,735 during the year ended December 31, 2012 
(2011– $1,771).

Interest and Other Income
Interest and other income for the year ended December 31, 2012, increased by $6,635 to $20,982 compared to $14,347 for 
the same period in 2011. The increase in interest and other income was mainly the result of an increase in dividend income 
of $4,835 and equity income from a partnership development project of $3,344 partially offset by property tax rebate and 
one-time fee income from a new portfolio in 2011. 
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Equity Income From Morguard REIT
The following table summarizes Morguard ReIT’s results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Table 5: Morguard REIT’s Results of Operations

Years ended December 31
(In thousands of dollars)   2012 2011

Net operating income   $ 142,387 $ 133,779
Interest expense    (51,249)  (50,689)
General and administrative expenses    (5,165)  (4,682)
Amortization expense and other income (expenses)    9  (53)
fair value gains on real estate properties    142,464  79,947

Net income   $ 228,446 $ 158,302

The Company accounts for its 42.9% ownership in Morguard ReIT using the equity method. On september 22, 2009, 
Morguard ReIT issued $90,000 principal amount of 6.50% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures (the “2009 
Debentures”), maturing on september 30, 2014. During the year ended December 31, 2012, Morguard ReIT converted  
all the outstanding 2009 Debentures in the amount of $88,636 (year ended December 31, 2011 – $11,414) into 6,331,124 
ReIT units (year ended December 31, 2011 – 815,280 units). The resulting dilution loss of $20,991 for the year ended 
December 31, 2012 (year ended December 31, 2011 – $2,371) has been included in equity income from Morguard ReIT  
in the consolidated statements of income. 

On October 31, 2012, Morguard ReIT issued $150,000 principal amount of 4.85% convertible unsecured subordinated 
debentures, maturing on October 31, 2017 (the “2012 Debentures”). The 2012 Debentures are convertible, at the option  
of the holder, into trust units of Morguard ReIT at $24.60 per trust unit. As part of the transaction, the Company purchased 
$50,000 of the Debentures being offered.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company purchased 1,615,000 units of Morguard ReIT (year ended 
December 31, 2011 – nil) through open-market transactions for cash consideration of $28,081. 

As a result of the above transactions, the Company’s ownership in Morguard ReIT decreased from 44.8% as at  
December 31, 2011, to 42.9% as at December 31, 2012.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company recorded equity income from Morguard ReIT of $77,929 compared 
to $68,153 during 2011. The increase of $9,776 in equity income from Morguard ReIT is predominantly due to an increase 
in the fair value gains on the real estate properties and an increase in the ReIT’s net operating income partially offset by  
an increase in the dilution loss of $18,620 from debenture conversions for the year ended December 31, 2012. 

Interest Expense
Table 6: Interest Expense

Years ended December 31
(In thousands of dollars)   2012 2011

Interest on mortgages   $ 66,056 $ 65,272 
Interest on bank indebtedness    821  2,289
Amortization of deferred financing costs    2,942  2,763
Amortization of cash flow hedge    740  697
Interest on loans payable and other    581  151

    $ 71,140 $ 71,172

Interest expense decreased by $32 to $71,140 during the year ended December 31, 2012, compared to $71,172 in 2011. 
The decrease was primarily due to a reduction in interest on bank indebtedness as a result of lower utilization of the 
Company’s credit facilities during the year partially offset by an increase in interest on mortgages due to the acquisitions 
completed during the latter part of 2011 and in 2012.
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Property Management and Corporate
Property management and corporate expenses increased by $7,522, or 12.8%, to $66,127 during the year ended 
December 31, 2012, compared to $58,605 in 2011. The increase was primarily due to an annual increase in salaries  
and benefits of $1,653, an increase in legal fees of $992, Morguard Residential ReIT trust expenses of $174 and an 
increase in the Company’s sARs expense of $2,573

Fair Value Gain on Real Estate Properties
During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company recognized a fair value gain of $226,070 compared to a gain 
of $180,226 for the year ended December 31, 2011. fair value adjustments are determined based on the movement of 
various parameters on a quarterly basis, including changes in projected cash flows as a result of leasing, capitalization 
rates, discount rates and terminal capitalization rates.

Fair Value Loss on Morguard Residential REIT Units
These units are measured at their redemption amount with changes in the redemption amount recorded as a fair value gain 
or loss. for the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company recorded a fair value loss on Morguard Residential ReIT 
Units in the consolidated statements of income of $3,883, which includes both a mark to market gain of $1,281 on the  
Units and the expensing of the distributions made to external unitholders of $5,164.

Gains on Sale of Marketable Securities
During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company disposed of an investment in marketable securities for proceeds  
of approximately $86,000 and realized a gain on disposition in the amount of $13,598 in the consolidated statement  
of income. The Company reinvested approximately $72,000 of the proceeds in securities of a separate public entity.  
The Company had previously reported an unrecognized gain in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income  
of $11,734 associated with these securities.

Income Taxes
for the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company increase in recorded total income tax expense of $55,637 compared 
to $80,190 in 2011. The decrease of $24,553 is composed of a $7,645 increase in current tax offset by a decrease of 
$32,198 in deferred tax. The increase in current tax expense is due to the sale of properties to Morguard Residential ReIT 
and a gain on the disposition of marketable securities. The decrease in deferred tax is primarily due to the sale of properties 
to Morguard Residential ReIT partially offset by an increase in equity income from Morguard ReIT and the Ontario 
corporate income tax rate freeze that became substantively enacted during the second quarter of 2012. Accordingly, the 
Company was required to revalue its deferred income tax assets and liabilities, which resulted in an expense of $14,325.

Virtually all of the current income tax expense is the result of the Company being taxable in Canada. 

Pension Plans
effective january 1, 2008, the Morguard Corporation employee Retirement Plan (the “Morguard Plan”) was amended  
and restated in its entirety to consist of the existing defined benefit provisions and new defined contribution provisions. 
employees who accrued benefits under the Morguard Plan on December 31, 2007, continued to participate in the defined 
benefit provisions of the Morguard Plan on and after january 1, 2008, and are not eligible to participate in the new defined 
contribution provisions. 

effective january 1, 2008, all members of the MIl retirement plan (the “MIl Plan”) ceased to accrue further benefits under 
the MIl Plan and commenced participation under the new defined contribution provisions of the Morguard Plan. No assets 
or liabilities will transfer from the MIl Plan to the new Morguard Plan with respect to benefits accrued to December 31, 2007, 
with respect to MIl members. Accrued benefits under the MIl Plan will be determined using credited service and benefit 
entitlement as of December 31, 2007.

With respect to the Company’s defined benefit pension plans, the Company is exposed to the possibility that changes in 
returns could have an impact on contributions, cash flows and pension expense. Other market-driven changes can also 
have a similar effect. In addition, there is no assurance that the plans will be able to earn the assumed rate of return. 
Market-driven changes may result in changes in the discount rates and other variables, which would result in the Company 
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being required to make contributions in the future that differ significantly from the estimates. There is also a component of 
measurement uncertainty incorporated in the actuarial valuation process. should the underlying assumptions change, 
actual results could differ from the estimated amounts.

The Company’s accounting policy under IfRs is to recognize actuarial gains/losses in full in the period in which they occur, 
and these gains/losses are reflected in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. During the year ended 
December 31, 2012, an actuarial gain of $14,607 was recorded compared to $4,444 for the year ended December 31, 2011.

Funds From Operations
Table 7: Funds From Operations

Years ended December 31
(In thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)   2012 2011

Net income attributable to common shareholders   $ 389,443 $ 288,026
Items not affecting cash:
     fair value gains on real estate properties    (226,070)  (180,226)
     fair value gain on Morguard Residential ReIT Units    (1,281)  –
     Non-controlling interest’s share of fair value gain (loss) on real estate property    142  (470)
     Deferred income taxes    21,163  53,361
     Depreciation on owner occupied property    104  104
     equity income from Morguard ReIT    (77,929)  (68,153)
     Morguard ReIT’s equity accounted ffO    36,812  35,960
     (Gain) loss on sale of property    (402)  7

Funds from operations   $ 141,982 $ 128,609

funds from operations
     Per share amounts – basic and diluted    $11.05  $9.92

The real estate industry has adopted a measure of ffO to supplement net income as an operating performance measurement. 
The Company considers ffO to be a useful measure for reviewing its comparative operating and financial performance. 
ffO can assist with comparisons of the operating performance of the Company’s real estate between periods and relative 
to other companies in the industry.

ffO is calculated as if Morguard owned 100% of Morguard Residential ReIT. ffO, therefore, includes both Morguard’s and 
Morguard Residential ReIT unitholders’ share after the payment of the distribution on the Morguard Residential ReIT Units.

for the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company recorded ffO of $141,982 ($11.05 per share) compared to  
$128,609 ($9.92 per share) in 2011. The increase in ffO of $13,373 is mainly due to a gain on the sale of marketable 
securities of $13,598, an increase in NOI of $8,000, an increase in management and advisory fees of $2,302, an increase  
in interest and other income of $6,635 and an increase in other income of $2,883. These items were partially offset by  
an increase in current taxes of $7,645, an increase in property management and corporate expenses of $7,522 and 
distributions of $5,164 to the Morguard Residential ReIT’s unitholders. The change in foreign exchange rates had a  
positive impact on ffO of $133 or $0.01 per share.

excluding the gain on the sale of marketable securities of $11,704 (net of tax impact), ffO for the year ended  
December 31, 2012, would have been $130,278 ($141,982 less $11,704) or $10.14 per share, which represents an  
increase in ffO of $1,669.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT ANALYSIS

Real Estate Properties
The Company’s real estate properties, including the investment in Morguard ReIT, represent more than 90% of Morguard’s 
total assets. Real estate properties include residential, retail and commercial properties held to earn rental income and for 
capital appreciation. Real estate properties also include properties or land that are being constructed or developed for future 
use as income producing properties and other real estate investments. Table 8 details the Company’s real estate assets.

Table 8: Real Estate Properties

As at  december 31, December 31,
(In thousands of dollars)   2012 2011

Income producing properties
     Residential   $ 1,758,279 $ 1,194,236
     Retail    783,949  742,265
     Office and industrial    617,635  585,944

     3,159,863  2,522,445
Real estate investments    30,825  13,668
Properties under development    121,309  60,000
land held for development    17,086  15,411

Real estate properties   $ 3,329,083 $ 2,611,524

Real estate properties increased by $717,559 at December 31, 2012, to $3,329,083 compared to $2,611,524 at  
December 31, 2011. The increase is mainly the result of the following:
• A fair value increase in the income producing properties of $226,070;
• Acquisitions of real estate properties, land held for development and real estate investments of $404,642;
• Development expenditures of $81,184; 
• Capitalization of property enhancements and tenant improvements totalling $35,741;
Offset by:
• A sale of development and real estate properties of $20,055; and
• A decrease of $13,629 due to the change in the U.S. dollar foreign exchange rates.

Acquisitions
On july 31, 2012, the Company acquired Woodbine Apartments for a purchase price of Us$42,100. Woodbine Apartments 
is a three-storey residential walk-up garden community comprising 408 suites in 17 buildings situated on 19 acres of land 
located in florida.

On August 29, 2012, the Company acquired blue Isle Apartments for a purchase price of Us$40,000. blue Isle Apartments 
is a two-storey residential walk-up garden community comprising 340 suites in 23 buildings situated on 18 acres of land 
located in florida. 

On september 12, 2012, the Company sold 50% of its interest in 150 elgin, located in Ottawa, to a third party as a co-owner 
for a total sale proceeds of $20,292.

On september 28, 2012, the Company acquired Coral lake development land in florida for a total purchase price of Us$2,070.

On December 7, 2012, the Company acquired land adjacent to North shore square, louisiana, for a total purchase price  
of Us$1,779.

On December 20, 2012, the Company acquired Alta at K station for a purchase price of Us$302,000. Alta at K station is a 
mixed-use high-rise property comprising 848 suites and 13,000 square feet of retail space located in Chicago.
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Appraisal Capitalization and discount Rates
Using the direct capitalization income approach, the properties were valued using capitalization rates in the range of 4.5% 
to 9.5% applied to a stabilized net operating income (December 31, 2011 – 5.3% to 9.5%), resulting in an overall weighted 
average capitalization rate of 5.8% (December 31, 2011 – 6.5%). The capitalization rates by product type are set out in the 
following table:

  december 31, 2012    December 31, 2011

      Weighted   Weighted
    Maximum Minimum Average Maximum Minimum Average

Canada
     Multi-unit residential    5.0% 4.5% 4.8% 5.8% 5.3% 5.6%
     Retail    7.5% 5.5% 6.3% 8.3% 6.0% 6.7%
     Office and industrial    8.5% 5.3% 6.3% 8.5% 5.8% 6.7%
United States 
     Multi-unit residential    8.5% 4.8% 5.7% 8.5% 5.5% 7.0%
     Retail    9.5% 6.5% 7.8% 9.5% 7.0% 7.9%

The key valuation metrics used in the discounted cash flow method for the retail, office and industrial properties are set out 
in the following table:

  december 31, 2012    December 31, 2011

      Weighted   Weighted
     Maximum Minimum Average Maximum Minimum Average

Canada
     Retail
          Discount rate    8.8% 6.8% 7.6% 9.0% 7.0% 7.9%
          Terminal cap rate    7.8% 5.8% 6.6% 8.3% 5.8% 6.9%
     Office/industrial
          Discount rate    9.3% 6.5% 7.2% 9.3% 7.0% 7.6%
          Terminal cap rate    8.5% 5.8% 6.5% 10.5% 6.3% 7.0%
United States 
     Retail
          Discount rate    10.8% 8.0% 8.8% 10.8% 8.3% 8.9%
          Terminal cap rate    9.8% 7.0% 8.1% 9.8% 7.3% 8.1%

Values are most sensitive to changes in discount rates, capitalization rates and timing or variability of cash flows.

Real Estate Investments
On january 11, 2012, the Company entered into an agreement to participate in a U.s. real estate income fund. The Company 
has committed up to Us$50,000 for investment in the fund and will account for its investment using the cost method.  
The total investment in the fund as at December 31, 2012, is Us$8,132.

On May 24, 2011, the Company entered into a partnership agreement to undertake a development project. The Company 
has joint control over the partnership and accounts for its investment using the equity method. The total investment in the 
partnership as at December 31, 2012, is $6,254 (December 31, 2011 – $3,390).

On june 30, 2010, the Company entered into an agreement to participate in a U.s. limited partnership real estate fund  
and accounts for its investment using the cost method. The Company has committed up to Us$20,000 for investment  
in the fund. The total investment in the fund as at December 31, 2012, is Us$7,711 (December 31, 2011 – $7,715).
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On November 26, 2010, the Company entered into an agreement to invest in the MIl Industrial fund II limited Partnership 
(the “MIl fund”), a real estate fund, whereby an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company is the general partner. 
The Company has committed up to $15,000 for investment in the MIl fund, which represents an 18.75% ownership in the 
MIl fund. The Company accounts for its investment using the equity method since the Company has the ability to exercise 
significant influence over the MIl fund as a result of its role as general partner. The total investment in the MIl fund as at 
December 31, 2012, is $8,874 (December 31, 2011 – $2,668).

development Projects
In November 2011, Morguard commenced development of a 21-storey, 361,000 square foot office tower with three levels  
of underground parking at 150 elgin street, Ottawa, Ontario. The Company has pre-leased approximately 40% of the  
gross leasable area. The project is expected to be substantially complete by December 2013. During the year ended 
December 31, 2012, the Company sold 50% of its interest to a third party as a co-owner for total sale proceeds of $20,292. 
Total development expenditures (excluding land) of $33,770 have been incurred as at December 31, 2012. 

In May 2011, the Company commenced construction of a residential development project located on a 2.3 acre site at  
310 and 320 Tweedsmuir Avenue, Toronto. The project represents a 590-suite residential complex comprising two 
30-storey towers. Completion and occupancy of the first rental tower are expected by september 2013. Total development 
expenditures (excluding land) of $37,348 have been incurred as at December 31, 2012. 

CAPITAL ASSET ACQUISITION

On November 15, 2012, the Company acquired a 94.8% interest in a Toronto area hotel for a purchase price of $30,600. 
The property does not qualify as an investment property under IAs 40, “Investment Property.” IAs 40 defines an 
investment property as a property held by the owner to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both, but does not include 
a property that is used in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. As a result of the 
services provided by hotel operators, the hotel acquisition does not represent an investment property and has been 
classified as a capital asset on the consolidated balance sheets and is carried at cost and amortized over its estimated 
useful life. The Company recorded on the consolidated statements of income a net loss of $118 in other income (expense) 
for the period from November 15, 2012, to December 31, 2012. 

CAPITAL RESOURCES

Morguard uses a combination of existing cash, cash generated from operations, mortgages, bank indebtedness,  
project-specific financing and equity to finance its activities. Morguard received approximately $31,147 in distributions  
and dividends from subsidiaries and affiliated entities during the year ended December 31, 2012. 

Table 9: Mortgage Continuity Schedule 

As at  december 31, December 31,
(In thousands of dollars)   2012 2011

Opening mortgage balance   $ 1,321,477 $ 1,222,916
New mortgage financing    292,811  175,489
Mortgages discharged and matured    (16,221)  (57,038)
scheduled principal repayments    (33,912)  (29,587)
Change in foreign exchange rate    (8,364)  9,808
Mortgage fair value adjustment amortization    (108)  (111)

Closing mortgage balance   $ 1,555,683 $ 1,321,477
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Mortgages Payable 
Table 10: Mortgage Repayment Schedule 

           Weighted 
     Principal      Average 
As at December 31, 2012    Instalment  balances    Contractual
(In thousands of dollars)    Repayments  Maturing  Total  Rate

2013   $ 34,467 $ 226,075 $ 260,542  4.40%
2014    27,023  239,884  266,907  5.11%
2015    22,580  90,948  113,528  4.46%
2016    23,639  10,634  34,273  4.71%
2017    21,292  311,689  332,981  5.59%
Thereafter        547,452  4.19%

        $ 1,555,683  4.70%
Deferred direct financing costs        (10,852)

Mortgage payable       $ 1,544,831

Mortgages payable totalled $1,555,683 at December 31, 2012, compared to $1,321,477 at December 31, 2011, representing 
an increase of $234,206. 

On january 31, 2012, the Company completed the refinancing of two multi-unit residential properties in the amount of 
$27,449 at an interest rate of 2.99% for a term of 10 years.

On june 1, 2012 the Company completed the refinancing of a retail property in the amount of $38,414 at an interest rate  
of 3.0% for a one-year term.

On july 16, 2012, the Company completed the financing of Village Crossing Apartments in the amount of $11,433 
(Us$11,400) at an interest rate of 3.96% for a term of 10 years.

On september 4, 2012, the Company completed the financing of Woodbine Apartments in the amount of $28,975 
(Us$29,470) at an interest rate of 3.78% for a term of 10 years.

On October 19, 2012, the Company completed the financing of blue Isle Apartments in the amount of $25,974 (Us$26,000) 
at an interest rate of 3.66% for a term of 10 years.

On December 20, 2012, the Company completed the financing of Alta at K station, a high-rise mixed-use building, in the 
amount of $198,980 (Us$200,000) at an interest rate of 3.29% for a term of 10 years. 

The Company’s first mortgages are registered against specific real estate assets. These mortgages bear interest at rates 
ranging between 3.0% and 7.3% per annum with a weighted average interest rate of 4.70% (December 31, 2011 – 5.05%) 
and mature between 2013 and 2026 with a weighted average term to maturity of 5.3 years.

short-term fluctuations in working capital are funded through pre-established operating lines. The Company anticipates 
meeting all future obligations. The Company has no off-balance-sheet financing arrangements. significant changes in 
financial condition are reviewed below. 
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The following table details the Company’s mortgages that are scheduled to mature in the next two years.

Table 11: Mortgage Maturity Schedule 

 2013  2014

    Weighted   Weighted
    Average   Average
  Number of Principal Interest Number of Principal Interest
Asset Type  Properties Maturing Rate Properties Maturing Rate

Canada – multi-unit residential   5 $ 193,977  4.11%  4 $ 94,886  4.29%
Canada – retail   –  –  –  2  61,942  5.54%
Office and industrial   1  19,766  5.51%  4  60,967  5.70%
U.s. – retail   1  12,332  7.33%  –  –  –
U.s. – residential    –  –  –  2  22,089  5.86%

   7  226,075  4.41%  12  239,884  5.11%

Mortgages and loans receivable consist of the following: 

Table 12: Mortgages and Loans Receivable

   december 31, December 31,
As at   2012 2011

loans receivable – Morguard ReIT   $ 30,610 $ –
loans receivable – other    9,707  74,813
Mortgages receivable    2,000  2,074

    $ 42,317 $ 76,887

Loan Receivable – Morguard REIT
The Company has a revolving loan agreement with Morguard ReIT that provides for either party to borrow up to $50,000, 
at each party’s bank borrowing rate, which can be priced at either the prime rate or the bankers’ acceptance rate plus 
applicable stamping fees. On April 18, 2012, the Company advanced $10,000 to Morguard ReIT, which was fully repaid  
on August 29, 2012. As at December 31, 2012, $30,610 was outstanding from Morguard ReIT under the loan agreement. 
The Company received interest in the amount of $447 during the year ended December 31, 2012 (December 31, 2011 –  
$10). During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company advanced $7,000 to Morguard ReIT, and the amount was 
repaid in full.

Loans Receivable – Other
The Company had a loan agreement with an unrelated third party bearing interest at the 90-day bankers’ acceptance rate 
plus 11.5% per annum plus 1% administration fee on the outstanding balance, which was collateralized by a first charge on 
several real estate properties. On November 24, 2010, the Company advanced $75,000 under this arrangement. The loan 
was fully repaid on November 26, 2012. The Company earned interest and fees in the amount of $8,992 during the year 
ended December 31, 2012 (December 31, 2011 – $9,851).

The Company has a loan agreement with a co-owner of a U.s. subsidiary that bears interest at 6% per annum. On july 31, 2012, 
the Company advanced Us$4,000 under the agreement. The Company earned interest of $106 for the year ended 
December 31, 2012.

The Company has a loan agreement with Woodbridge square, a Morguard ReIT co-ownership, that bears interest at prime 
plus 1.5% on the outstanding balance. As at December 31, 2012, the Company had advanced $2,645 under the agreement. 
The Company earned interest of $45 for the year ended December 31, 2012.

The Company has a loan agreement with the MIl fund that bears interest at prime plus 1.25% on the outstanding balance. 
As at December 31, 2012, the Company had advanced $3,005 under the agreement. The Company earned interest of $14 
for the year ended December 31, 2012.
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On December 20, 2012, the Company entered into an agreement to participate in a debt fund. The Company has 
committed up to $10,000 for investment in the fund. The total investment in the fund as at December 31, 2012, is nil.

Loan Receivable – ClubLink
The Company has a revolving loan agreement with a related party, Clublink enterprises limited (“Clublink”). The agreement 
provides for borrowings or advances of up to $30,000. During the year ended December 31, 2012, there were no 
borrowings by either party. During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company advanced $4,000 to Clublink,  
which was repaid in full on february 4, 2011. The Company earned interest in the amount of $13.

Mortgages Receivable
On september 29, 2010, the Company assumed at its carrying value plus accrued interest from Morguard ReIT a  
$2,000 vendor take-back note receivable that had been issued to an unrelated third party as part of a disposition of a 
retail property. The note bears interest at an annual interest rate of 5.0%, matures on May 28, 2013, and is collateralized  
by the property. The Company earned interest in the amount of $100 during the year ended December 31, 2012  
(December 31, 2011 – $100).

Morguard Residential REIT Units
The Company retained an effective interest in Morguard Residential ReIT of 57.1% and has accounted for the initial 
transaction as a reorganization and recapitalization of its existing operations. The Units of the ReIT are redeemable at the 
option of the holder and, therefore, are considered puttable instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability under 
International Accounting standards 32, “financial Instruments – Presentation” (“IAs 32”). Whereas certain exceptions in 
IAs 32 allow the ReIT to classify the Units as equity in its own balance sheet, this exception is not available to the Company, 
and therefore the non-controlling interest that these Units represent is classified as a liability in the financial statements of 
the Company. The Units are measured at their redemption amount with changes in the redemption amount recorded in 
income in the period of change. 

The Units of the ReIT have been presented as liabilities. since the Units are redeemable at any time, in whole or in part,  
on demand by the holders, upon receipt of the redemption notice by the ReIT, all rights to and under the Units tendered  
for redemption shall be surrendered and the holder shall be entitled to receive a price per Unit equal to the lesser of  
(i) 90% of the market price of the Units on the principal exchange market on which the Units are listed or quoted for trading 
during the 10 consecutive trading days ending immediately prior to the date on which the Units were surrendered for 
redemption and (ii) 100% of the closing market price on the principal exchange market on which the Units are listed or 
quoted for trading on the redemption date. The fair value of the Units is estimated based on 90% of the market trading  
price of the Units of Morguard Residential ReIT. 

As at December 31, 2012, the Company recorded a liability of $165,390 relating to the Units and recorded for the year 
ended December 31, 2012, a fair value loss on Morguard Residential ReIT Units in the consolidated statements of income 
of $3,883, which includes both a mark to market gain of $1,281 on the Units and the expensing of the distributions made  
to external unitholders of $5,164.

Bank Indebtedness 
The Company has credit facilities and operating lines totalling $177,000 (December 31, 2011 – $157,146). The Company’s 
investment in Morguard ReIT, marketable securities, amounts receivable, inventory, capital assets and a fixed charge 
security on specific properties have been pledged as collateral on these credit facilities and operating lines. As at 
December 31, 2012, the Company had borrowed $144,921 (December 31, 2011 – $75,539) and issued letters of credit  
in the amount of $10,811 (December 31, 2011 – $15,741) related to these facilities.

The bank credit agreements include certain restrictive covenants and undertakings by the Company. As at December 31, 2012, 
the Company is in compliance with all covenants and undertakings. As the bank indebtedness is current, the carrying  
value of the debt at December 31, 2012, approximates its fair value.
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Shareholders’ Equity
shareholders’ equity increased by $365,124 to $2,049,679 at December 31, 2012, compared to $1,684,555 at  
December 31, 2011. The increase in equity was primarily the result of total net income for the year ended December 31, 2012, 
of $389,420, an actuarial gain on the defined benefit pension plan of $10,455 net of tax, amortization of cash flow hedges 
in the amount of $788 net of tax and the non-cash gain on interest rate swaps of $991 net of tax. These items were  
partially offset by foreign currency translation loss of $2,443, dividends of $7,708, repurchase of common shares of 
$16,100, an unrealized gain on available-for-sale marketable securities of $1,344 net of tax and a reclassification for  
gain on available-for-sale marketable securities included in net income of $11,734.

At December 31, 2012, 12,772,001 common shares were outstanding. During the year ended December 31, 2012,  
178,438 shares (2011 – 18,280) were repurchased through the Company’s normal course issuer bid for cash consideration 
of $16,100 (2011 – $1,388). Under the Company’s dividend reinvestment plan, the Company issued 1,615 shares (2011 –  
1,040 shares) for the year ended December 31, 2012. 

LIQUIdIT Y ANd CAPITAL RESOURCES

future obligations total $1,700,240, of which $1,555,683 is mortgage financing that management presently intends to 
renew at maturity. Operating leases relate primarily to rental premises and will be paid out of the cash flow of the Company. 
The Company leases the land under three of its properties, with lease maturity dates ranging from 2022 to 2069. The land 
lease payments will be paid out of the cash flow of the Company. 

Table 13: Payments due by Period

 Payments Due by Period

As at December 31    less Than
(In thousands of dollars)  Total  1 Year  1–3 Years  4–5 Years  After 5 Years

Mortgages payable $ 1,555,683 $ 260,542 $ 380,435 $ 367,254 $ 547,452
Operating leases  11,742  2,420  3,055  2,125  4,142
Ground leases  132,977  2,884  5,767  5,767  118,559

Total contractual obligations $ 1,700,402 $ 265,846 $ 389,257 $ 375,146 $ 670,153

The Company is a lessee under a ground lease that expires on june 30, 2060. It was scheduled to be reset to 6% of the 
fair market of the land effective july 1, 2010. In accordance with the terms of the lease, since the lessor and the Company 
were not able to reach an agreement on the revised annual rental payment, the matter has been appointed to an arbitrator 
that will determine the revised annual rental. There are significant complexities involved in determining the fair market 
value of the land as the fair value will be determined without regard to the existing income producing property and the fact 
that the ground lease has a remaining term of 50 years. since the final outcome of this matter cannot be predicted or 
estimated with certainty, the Company continues to reflect the previous rent expense of $2,779 per annum in the property 
operating expenses of the statement of income, which is based on the fair market value of the land at the time of the last 
rental reset on july 1, 1990. As the arbitration proceedings progress, the Company will review and amend the amount of 
the rental expense as required. The final settlement of the proceedings in excess of amounts recorded will be charged to 
operations as and when such determination is made.

LIQUIdIT Y

Net cash flows from operating activities represent the primary source of liquidity to fund distributions and maintenance 
capital expenditures (excluding new acquisition and development spending) on the Company’s properties. The Company’s 
net cash flows from operating activities are dependent upon the occupancy level of its rental properties, rental rates on  
its leases, collectibility of rent from its tenants, level of operating expenses and other factors. Material changes in these 
factors may adversely affect the Company’s cash flows from operating activities and liquidity. The Company’s cash 
distribution policy reflects a strategy of maintaining a relatively constant debt level as a percentage of total gross assets. 
Accordingly, the Company does not repay maturing debt from cash flow but rather with proceeds from refinancing such 
debt or financing unencumbered properties.
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Cash Provided by Operating Activities
Cash flow from operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2012, was $121,715 compared to $117,480 in 2011. 
The cash provided from operating activities has been used to meet the Company’s liquidity requirements, which consisted 
primarily of property re-leasing costs, maintenance costs and dividends to shareholders. 

Cash Used in Investing Activities
Cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2012, totalled $555,758 compared to cash used in 
investing activities of $199,376 for the same period in 2011. The cash used in investing activities reflects $430,011 additions 
to real estate properties and tenant improvements, expenditures on property under development of $81,411, additions to 
capital assets of $31,604, investment in Morguard ReIT of $78,081 and investment in Morguard Residential ReIT of $3,993. 
These items were partially offset by a decrease in mortgages and loans receivable of $34,657, proceeds from the sale of 
publicly traded securities of $14,228 and proceeds from sale of real estate properties of $20,457.

Cash Provided by Financing Activities
Cash provided by financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2012, totalled $482,273 compared to cash 
provided by financing activities of $82,726 for the same period in 2011. The cash provided by financing activities reflects 
proceeds from issuance of Morguard Residential ReIT Units of $168,629, proceeds from new mortgages of $292,811, net 
inflow from bank indebtedness of $69,382, proceeds from construction financing of $17,334 and loans payable of $11,985. 
These items were partially offset by repayment of mortgages payable on maturity of $16,221, financing cost on new 
mortgages of $2,583, mortgage principal repayments of $33,912, shares purchased for cancellation of $16,100, increase in 
restricted cash of $1,495 and dividends paid of $7,557. 

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS 

Table 14 provides a summary of operating results for the last eight quarters in accordance with IfRs.

Table 14: Quarterly Results

   Net Income
   Attributable Per share
  Total to Common – basic and
(In thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)  Revenue shareholders Diluted

december 31, 2012 $ 110,269 $ 127,058  $9.95
september 30, 2012  106,985  119,449  9.32
june 30, 2012  100,582  91,274  7.08
March 31, 2012  98,081  51,662  4.00
December 31, 2011  104,940  136,438  10.53
september 30, 2011  96,423  44,634  3.44
june 30, 2011  95,772  49,721  3.83
March 31, 2011  94,010  57,233  4.41

Fourth Quarter Results 2012
Revenue increased $5,329 to $110,269 in the fourth quarter of 2012 compared to $104,940 in the fourth quarter of 2011. 
The increase in revenue is mainly due to an increase in revenue realized from real estate properties of $4,943 and an 
increase in interest and other income of $3,295 offset by a decrease in management and advisory fees of $2,891. 

Net income attributable to common shareholders decreased by $9,380 to $127,058 compared to $136,438 in the fourth 
quarter of 2011. The decrease in net income was primarily due to an increase in property management and corporate 
expenses of $1,097, an increase in interest expense of $312, a decrease in management and advisory fees of $2,891  
and a decrease in fair value gain on real estate properties of $38,124. These items were partially offset by an increase  
in interest and other income of $3,295, a fair value gain on Morguard Residential ReIT units of $5,650, a decrease in 
income tax expense of $15,924, a decrease in other expenses of $849 and an increase in equity income from Morguard 
ReIT of $7,143.
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TR ANSACTIONS WITH REL ATEd PARTIES

(a) Morguard REIT 
Management and Advisory Fees
In the ordinary course of business, the Company derives management fees and other revenues from Morguard ReIT, 
which is subject to significant influence. Transactions with Morguard ReIT are recorded at the exchange amount,  
which is based on the consideration given for the service provided. As at December 31, 2012, a net amount of $3,021  
is receivable from Morguard ReIT (December 31, 2011 – $1,532). such transactions with Morguard ReIT for the years  
ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, are summarized as follows:

Years ended December 31
(In thousands of dollars)   2012 2011

Consolidated statements of income:
Property management and other fees   $ 8,148 $ 7,541
leasing fees    5,783  4,833
Property administration fees    5,116  3,175
Rental expense    (323)  (340)

    $ 18,724 $ 15,209

Loan Agreement with Morguard REIT
The Company has a revolving loan agreement with Morguard ReIT that provides for either party to borrow up to $50,000, 
at each party’s bank borrowing rate, which can be priced at either the prime rate or the bankers’ acceptance rate plus 
applicable stamping fees. On April 18, 2012, the Company advanced $10,000 to Morguard ReIT, which was fully repaid  
on August 29, 2012. As at December 31, 2012, $30,610 was outstanding from Morguard ReIT under the loan agreement.  
The Company received interest in the amount of $447 for the year ended December 31, 2012 (December 31, 2011 – $10). 
During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company advanced $7,000 to Morguard ReIT, and the amount was  
repaid in full.

(b) ClubLink Enterprises Limited
The Company provides Clublink with managerial and consulting services for its business and the business of its subsidiaries. 
Mr. K. (Rai) sahi is Chairman and Chief executive Officer and is a major shareholder of Clublink through his holding 
company, Paros enterprises limited (“Paros”). Mr. sahi is Chairman and Chief executive Officer of the Company. Paros is 
the majority shareholder of the Company. The Company received a management fee of $240 for year ended December 31, 2012 
(2011 – $240) from Clublink under a contractual agreement. 

(c) Paros Enterprises Limited
The Company entered into a demand loan agreement with Paros enterprises limited that provides for the Company to 
borrow up to $20,000. The balance owing as at December 31, 2012, was $11,985 and bears interest at a weighted average 
interest rate of 3.30%.

(d) Share/Unit Purchase Loans
share/unit purchase loans to officers and employees of the Company, its subsidiaries and Morguard ReIT of $6,475 
(December 31, 2011 – $5,930) are outstanding as at December 31, 2012. The loans are collateralized by the shares of the 
Company, the units of Morguard ReIT and the units of Morguard Residential ReIT and are interest-bearing computed at 
the Canadian prime interest rate and are due between 2013 and 2015. The fair market value of the shares/units held as 
collateral is $69,312.

(e) Renasant Financial Partners Ltd.
The Company derives management and consulting fees from Renasant financial Partners ltd. (“Renasant”). Paros is the 
majority shareholder of Renasant. The Company received a management fee of $120 for the year ended December 31, 2012 
(2011 – $120) under a contractual agreement. 
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES ANd ESTIMATES

Adoption of Accounting Standards
Income Taxes (“IAS 12”)
In December 2010, the IAsb made amendments to IAs 12, “Income Taxes,” that are applicable to the measurement of 
deferred tax assets and liabilities where investment property is measured using the fair value model in IAs 40, “Investment 
Property.” The amendments introduce a rebuttable presumption that, for purposes of determining deferred tax consequences 
associated with temporary difference relating to investment properties, the carrying amount of the investment property is 
recovered entirely through the sale of the property. This presumption is rebutted if the investment property is held within  
a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment 
property over time, rather than through sale. The amendments to IAs 12 are effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after january 1, 2012, and have been adopted in the preparation of these financial statements. The amendments had 
minimal impact on the financial statements since the Company had been applying this approach in calculating deferred 
income taxes under IfRs.

Presentation of Financial Statements (“IAS 1”)
IAs 1, “Presentation of financial statements,” will require companies to group items presented in OCI on the basis of 
whether they will or will not subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss. The Company has adopted IAs 1.

Future Accounting Policy Changes
each of the standards below is effective for annual periods beginning on or after january 1, 2013, with the exception of 
IfRs 9, which requires adoption effective january 1, 2015, and the amended version of IAs 1, which is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after july 1, 2012. earlier adoption is permitted for each standard.

Consolidated Financial Statements (“IFRS 10”)
IfRs 10, “Consolidated financial statements,” will replace IAs 27, “Consolidated and separate financial statements,”  
and sIC-12, “Consolidation – special Purpose entities,” and provides a single model for consolidation based on a revised 
definition of control that states that an entity has control over another entity if it has the ability to direct the activities of that 
entity, even if the investor holds less than 50% of the voting rights of the investee. The standard is required to be applied 
retrospectively to prior periods presented.

The impact of this standard will be significant for the Company since under IfRs 10 the Company will be required to 
account for its investment in Morguard ReIT using the consolidation method. Currently, under IfRs, the Company 
accounts for its investment in Morguard ReIT using the equity method. The impact of this change on the Company’s 
consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2011, is an increase to total assets of approximately $1,608,000, an 
increase to total liabilities of approximately $964,000 and an increase in non-controlling interests and retained earnings  
of approximately $644,000. for the year ended December 31, 2011, the impact to net income attributable to common 
shareholders is an increase of $3,000. The impact on per share amounts is an increase of $0.22 per share.

Joint Arrangements (“IFRS 11”)
IfRs 11, “joint Arrangements,” will replace IAs 31, “Interests in joint Ventures.” IfRs 11 requires that reporting issuers 
consider whether a joint arrangement is structured through a separate vehicle, as well as the terms of the contractual 
arrangement and other relevant facts and circumstances, to assess whether the venture is entitled to only the net assets of 
the joint arrangement (“joint venture”) or to its share of the assets and liabilities of the joint arrangement (“a joint operation”). 
The standard is required to be applied retrospectively to prior periods presented. The Company does not expect that this 
standard will result in a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. 

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (“IFRS 12”)
IfRs 12, “Disclosure of Interests in Other entities,” applies to entities that have an interest in a subsidiary, a joint 
arrangement, an associate or an unconsolidated structured entity. The standard requires the Company to disclose 
information that enables users of the financial statements to evaluate (i) the nature of, and risks associated with, the 
Company’s interests in other entities and (ii) the effects of those interests on the Company’s financial position, financial 
performance and cash flows. Adoption of this standard will not materially affect the consolidated financial statements. 
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Fair Value Measurement (“IFRS 13”)
IfRs 13, “fair Value Measurement,” replaces the current guidance on fair value measurement in existing IfRss with  
a single standard. The standard defines fair value, provides guidance on its determination and requires disclosures  
about fair value measurements but does not change the requirements about the items that should be measured and 
disclosed at fair value. The Company does not expect that this standard will result in a material impact on the consolidated 
financial statements.

Employee Benefits (“IAS 19”)
IAs 19, “employee benefits,” has been amended to eliminate the option to defer the recognition of gains and losses, 
streamlining the presentation of changes to assets and liabilities with all changes from remeasurement to be recognized  
in other comprehensive income and enhancing the disclosure of the characteristics of defined benefit plans and the risks 
that companies are exposed to through participation in those plans. The Company expects the adoption of the amendments 
to IAs 19 to have a minimal impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements since the Company elected the 
“fresh start” exemption and recognized through retained earnings all cumulative unamortized actuarial gains and 
transitional obligations relating to its defined benefit pension plans. 

Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”)
IfRs 9, “financial Instruments,” will replace IAs 39, “financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement,” and applies to 
the classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities as defined in IAs 39. The approach in IfRs 9 
is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the context of its business model and the contractual cash 
flow characteristics of its financial assets. The Company has not yet determined the impact of IfRs 9 on its consolidated 
financial statements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The Company’s critical accounting policies are those that management believes are the most important in portraying  
the Company’s financial condition and results and that require the most subjective judgment and estimates on the part 
of management.

Real Estate Properties
Real estate properties include residential, retail and commercial properties held to earn rental income (income producing 
properties) and properties or land that are being constructed or developed for future use as income producing properties. 
Real estate properties are recorded at fair value, determined based on available market evidence, at the balance sheet 
date. The Company determined the fair value of each real estate property based upon, among other things, rental income 
from current leases and assumptions about rental income from future leases reflecting market conditions at the applicable 
balance sheet dates, less future cash outflow pertaining to the respective leases. The residential properties are appraised 
using the direct capitalization income method. The retail, commercial and industrial properties are appraised using a number 
of approaches that typically include a discounted cash flow analysis and a direct comparison approach. The discounted 
cash flow analysis is primarily based on discounting the expected future cash flows, generally over a term of 10 years, 
including a terminal value based on the application of a capitalization rate to estimated year 11 cash flows. To assist with 
the evaluation of fair value, the ReIT has its Canadian properties appraised by Morguard’s appraisal division and has its 
U.s. portfolio appraised by an independent national U.s. real estate appraisal firm. Morguard’s appraisal division is staffed 
with six accredited members of the Appraisal Institute of Canada who, collectively, in 2012 valued over $12 billion of real 
estate properties in Canada for institutional and corporate clients.

In applying the accounting policies to the Company’s real estate properties, judgment is required in determining whether 
certain costs are additions to the carrying amount of the property, in distinguishing between tenant incentives and tenant 
improvements, and, for properties under development, identifying the point at which practical completion of the property 
occurs and identifying the directly attributable borrowing costs to be included in the carrying value of the development property. 
judgment is also applied in determining the extent and frequency of independent appraisals.

Income Taxes
Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be paid to tax authorities, net of recoveries, 
based on the tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 
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In accordance with IfRs, the Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the liability method 
of tax allocation, current income tax assets and liabilities are based on the amount expected to be paid to tax authorities, 
net of recoveries, based on the tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.  
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting and tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using substantively enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect  
when the differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, 
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that deductions, tax credits  
and tax losses can be utilized. The carrying amounts of deferred income tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet 
date and reduced to the extent it is no longer probable that the income tax asset will be recovered. 

The Company applies judgment in determining the tax rate applicable to its investment in Morguard ReIT and identifying 
the temporary differences related to its investment with respect to which deferred income taxes are recognized.

Revenue Recognition
The computation of cost reimbursements from tenants for realty taxes, insurance and common area maintenance charges 
is complex and involves a number of judgments, including the interpretation of terms and other tenant lease provisions. 
Tenant leases are not consistent in dealing with such cost reimbursements, and variations in computations can exist. 
Adjustments are made throughout the year to these cost recovery revenues based upon the Company’s best estimate  
of the final amounts to be billed and collected. 

Leases
The Company makes judgments in determining whether certain leases, in particular those leases with long contractual 
terms where the lessee is the sole tenant in a property and long-term ground leases where the Company is the lessee,  
are operating or finance leases. The Company has determined that all of its tenant leases and long-term ground leases  
are operating leases. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Management reports on a quarterly basis the fair value of financial instruments. The fair value of financial instruments 
approximates amounts at which these instruments could be exchanged between knowledgeable and willing parties.  
The estimated fair value may differ in amount from that which could be realized on an immediate settlement of  
the instruments. Management estimates the fair value of mortgages payable by discounting the cash flows of these  
financial obligations using December 31, 2012, market rates for debts of similar terms.

Business Combinations (“IFRS 3”)
Accounting for business combinations under IfRs 3, “business Combinations,” applies only if it is considered that a 
business has been acquired. Under IfRs 3, a business is defined as an integrated set of activities and assets conducted 
and managed for the purposes of providing a return to investors or lower costs or other economic benefits directly and 
proportionately to the Company. A business generally consists of inputs, processes applied to those inputs, and resulting 
outputs that are, or will be, used to generate revenues. judgment is used by management in determining if the acquisition 
of an individual property qualifies as a business combination in accordance with IfRs 3 or as an asset acquisition.

When determining whether the acquisition of a real estate property or a portfolio of properties is a business combination  
or an asset acquisition, the Company applies judgment when considering whether the real estate property or properties 
are capable of producing outputs and whether the market participant could produce outputs if missing elements exist. 

RISKS ANd UNCERTAINTIES

All investment properties are subject to a degree of risk and uncertainty. Income from real estate assets is affected by 
various factors, including general economic conditions and local market circumstances. local business conditions such  
as oversupply of space or a reduction in demand particularly affect income property investments. The following are 
business risks the Company expects to face in the normal course of its operations and management’s strategy to  
reduce the potential impact.
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Operating Risk
Real estate has a high fixed cost associated with ownership, and income lost due to vacancies cannot easily be minimized 
through cost reduction. Tenant retention is critical to maintaining occupancy levels. Through well-located and professionally 
managed properties, management seeks to increase tenant loyalty and become the landlord of choice. Morguard reduces 
operating risk through diversification. The Company diversifies its portfolio by tenants, lease maturities, product and location. 

The portfolio diversification as at December 31, 2012, shown by percentage of net operating income is as follows: 

Financing Risk
The Company is subject to the risks associated with debt financing, including the risk that mortgages and credit facilities 
secured by the Company’s properties will not be able to be refinanced or that the terms of such refinancing will not be as 
favourable as the terms of existing indebtedness. To minimize this risk, Morguard has structured its debt maturities over  
a number of years and has negotiated fixed interest rates on all of its mortgages payable, with the exception of three 
mortgages with a floating rate. To mitigate the interest rate risk on the refinancing of these mortgages, the Company 
entered into three interest rate swap transactions to acquire a fixed rate over the floating rate.

Credit Risk 
The Company’s primary business is the ownership and operation of multi-unit residential, retail and office properties.  
The income stream, generated by tenants paying rent, can be affected by general and local economic conditions and by a 
change in the credit and financial stability of tenants. examples of other local conditions that could adversely affect income 
include oversupply of space or reduced demand for rental space, the attractiveness of the Company’s properties compared 
to other space and fluctuation in real estate taxes, insurance and other operating costs. The Company may be adversely 
affected if tenants become unable to meet their financial obligations under their leases. 

Retail shopping centres traditionally rely on anchor tenants (department stores, junior department stores or grocery stores) 
as a source of significant revenue and in terms of generating traffic for the mall. Accordingly, the risk is present that an 
anchor tenant will move out or experience a failure, which would have a negative impact on the subject property.

The Company’s largest tenant is the Government of Canada and its related agencies, which, combined, accounted for 
approximately $35,819 or 11.33% of 2012 property revenues. based on 2012 revenues, no other tenant contributes more 
than 2% of property revenues.

Acquisition and development Risk
The Company’s investment criteria are focused on well-located assets, with minimal leasing exposure in the short term  
and tenants with strong covenants. To mitigate development risk, the Company’s development criteria for greenfield 
development emphasizes prudent selection of development sites, minimal land banking and an adequate level of leasing 
prior to commencing construction. To further reduce risk, Morguard attempts to have interim financing and fixed 
construction contracts in place at the outset of any development. 

Environmental Risk
As an owner and manager of real property, the Company is subject to various laws relating to environmental matters. 
These laws impose liability for the cost of removal and remediation of certain hazardous materials released or deposited 
on properties owned or managed by the Company or on adjacent properties. As a result, Phase 1 assessments are 
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completed prior to the acquisition of any property. Once the property is acquired, environmental assessment programs 
ensure continued compliance with all laws and regulations governing environmental and related matters. Morguard’s 
management is responsible for ensuring compliance with environmental legislation and is required to report quarterly  
to the board of directors. The Company has certain properties that contain hazardous substances, and management has 
concluded that the necessary remediation costs will not have a material impact on its operations. The Company has 
obtained environmental insurance on certain assets to further manage risk. 

Commercial Lease Rollover Risk
lease rollover risk results from the possibility that the Company may experience difficulty in renewing leases as they expire 
or in re-leasing space vacated by a tenant upon expiry. Management attempts to stagger the lease expiry profile so that 
the Company is not exposed to disproportionate amounts of space expiring in any one year as set out in Table 15. 
Management further mitigates this risk by maintaining a diversified portfolio mix by both asset type and geographic location.

Table 15: Lease Expiries 

summary of lease expiries 2013    2014    2015

as at December 31, 2011 Total sq. ft. sq. ft. % sq. ft. % sq. ft. %

Retail 4,173  551  13  465  11  370  9
Office 2,410  154  6  119  5  55  2
Industrial  530  95  18  60  11  186  35

Total  7,113  800  11  644  9  611  9

Foreign Exchange Risk
A portion of the Company’s real estate properties are located in the United states. As a result, the Company is exposed  
to foreign currency exchange rate risk with respect to future cash flows derived from the properties located in the U.s.  
The Company’s exposure to exchange rate risk could increase if the proportion of income from properties located in the 
United states increases as a result of future property acquisitions in the United states.

The Company mitigates its foreign currency exposure by offsetting certain revenues earned in United states dollars from 
its U.s. properties against expenses and liabilities undertaken by the Company in United states dollars.

At December 31, 2012, the Canadian dollar value was Us$1.0051 compared to Us$0.9833 a year earlier. The average 
exchange rate for the year was Us$1.0004 compared to Us$1.0110 in 2011. The strengthening of the Canadian dollar 
during 2012 resulted in an unrealized foreign currency translation loss of approximately $2,443 recognized in other 
comprehensive income.

Risk of Natural disasters
In the past, and prior to the Company’s acquisition of the U.s. portfolio, the Company’s U.s. properties sustained storm 
damages from the succession of hurricanes Isaac, Katrina, Rita and Gustav. While the Company has insurance to cover  
a substantial portion of the cost of such events, our insurance includes deductible amounts, and certain items may not be 
covered by insurance. The Company’s operations and properties may be significantly affected by future hurricanes or other 
natural disasters. future hurricanes or other natural disasters may cause us to lose rent and incur additional storm cleanup 
costs. Any of these events might have a materially adverse impact on our results of operations and financial condition.

Risk of Loss Not Covered by Insurance
The Company generally maintains insurance policies related to our business, including casualty, general liability and other 
policies covering our business operations, employees and assets; however, the Company would be required to bear all 
losses that are not adequately covered by insurance, as well as any insurance deductibles. In the event of a substantial 
property loss, the insurance coverage may not be sufficient to pay the full current market value or current replacement cost 
of the property. In the event of an uninsured loss, the Company could lose some or all of its capital investment, cash flow 
and anticipated profits related to one or more properties. Although the Company believes that our insurance programs are 
adequate, assurance cannot be provided that the Company will not incur losses in excess of insurance coverage or that 
insurance can be obtained in the future at acceptable levels and reasonable cost.
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Risk Related to Insurance Renewals
Certain events could make it more difficult and expensive to obtain property and casualty insurance, including coverage  
for terrorism. When our current insurance policies expire, the Company may encounter difficulty in obtaining or renewing 
property or casualty insurance on our properties at the same levels of coverage and under similar terms. such insurance 
may be more limited and, for catastrophic risks (e.g., earthquake, hurricane, flood and terrorism), may not be generally 
available to fully cover potential losses. even if the Company is able to renew our policies at levels and with limitations 
consistent with our current policies, the Company cannot be sure that we will be able to obtain such insurance at premium 
rates that are commercially reasonable. If the Company was unable to obtain adequate insurance on our properties for 
certain risks, it could cause us to be in default under specific covenants on certain of our indebtedness or other contractual 
commitments we have that require us to maintain adequate insurance on our properties to protect against the risk of loss.  
If this were to occur or if the Company were unable to obtain adequate insurance and our properties experienced damages 
that would otherwise have been covered by insurance, it could adversely affect our financial condition and the operations 
of our properties.

Relative Liquidity of Real Estate
Real estate is not considered to be a liquid investment as it requires a reasonable sales period and normal market 
conditions to generate multiple bids to complete the sales process. The characteristics of the property being sold and 
general and local economic conditions can affect the time required to complete the sales process.

significant competition exists that may decrease the rental rates and occupancy rates of the Company’s properties.  
The Company competes with many other real estate entities, major retailers and commercial developers. some of these 
entities develop their own malls and community shopping centres that compete for tenants. New shopping centres or  
new multi-unit residential properties with more convenient locations or lower rental rates may cause tenants to leave the 
Company’s properties or may give cause for tenants to renew their leases on terms less favourable to the Company. 

MORGUARd REIT ANd MORGUARd RESIdENTIAL REIT UNITHOLdER TA X ATION

At December 31, 2012, the Company owned 27,484,405 units of Morguard ReIT and 4,575,166 Class A units of  
Morguard Residential ReIT and 17,223,090 Class b lP units of Morguard North American Canada limited Partnership. 
The Class b lP units are exchangeable, on a one-for-one basis, at the option of the Company, into Class A units of 
Morguard Residential ReIT. 

legislation relating to the federal income taxation of a specified investment flow-through (“sIfT”) trust or partnership was 
enacted on june 22, 2007 (the “sIfT Rules”). A sIfT includes a publicly listed or traded partnership or trust such as an 
income trust. Under the sIfT Rules, certain distributions attributable to a sIfT will not be deductible in computing the 
sIfT’s taxable income and the sIfT will be subject to tax on such distributions at a rate that is substantially equivalent  
to the general tax rate applicable to Canadian corporations. however, distributions paid by a sIfT as returns of capital 
should generally not be subject to the tax. Under the sIfT rules, the new taxation regime will not apply to a trust that  
meets prescribed conditions relating to the nature of its income and investments (“the ReIT exception”).

The ReIT intends to comply with the requirements under the Tax Act at all relevant times such that it maintains its status  
as a “unit trust’’ and a “mutual fund trust’’ for purposes of the Tax Act. Under current law, a trust may lose its status under 
the Tax Act as a mutual fund trust if it can reasonably be considered that the trust was established or is maintained 
primarily for the benefit of Non-Residents, except in limited circumstances. Accordingly, Non-Residents may not be the 
beneficial owners of more than 49% of the Units (determined on a basic or a fully diluted basis). The Trustees will also have 
various powers that can be used for the purpose of monitoring and controlling the extent of Non-Resident ownership of the 
Units. see “Description of Trust Units and Declaration of Trust – limitation on Non-Resident Ownership.” The restrictions 
on the issuance of Units by the ReIT to Non-Residents may negatively affect the ReIT’s ability to raise financing for future 
acquisitions or operations. In addition, the Non-Resident ownership restrictions could negatively impact the liquidity of  
the Units and the market price at which Units can be sold.

There can be no assurance that Canadian federal income tax laws and the administrative policies and assessing practices 
of the Canada Revenue Agency (“CRA”) respecting mutual fund trusts will not be changed in a manner that adversely 
affects unitholders.
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Although, as of the date hereof, management believes that the Morguard ReIT and the Morguard Residential ReIT will  
be able to meet the requirements of the ReIT exception throughout 2013 and beyond, there can be no assurance that  
the ReITs will be able to qualify for the ReIT exception such that the ReIT and the Unitholders will not be subject to the 
sIfT Rules in 2013 or in future years.

CONTROLS ANd PROCEdURES CONCERNING FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Company’s management has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and, 
based on such evaluation, has concluded that their design and operation are adequate and effective as of the period ended 
December 31, 2012. The Company’s management has also evaluated the effectiveness of the internal controls over financial 
reporting and has concluded that the design and operation are effective as of the period ended December 31, 2012. 

The financial certification process project team has documented and assessed the design and effectiveness of the  
internal controls in order to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation 
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with IfRs. This undertaking has enabled the Chief executive 
Officer and Chief financial Officer to attest that the design and effectiveness of the internal controls with regard to financial 
information are effective. In order to ensure that the consolidated financial statements and MD&A present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Company and the results of its operations, management is responsible for 
establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures, as well as internal control over financial reporting. 

An information disclosure policy constitutes the framework for the information disclosure process with regard to the annual 
and interim filings, as well as to other reports filed or submitted under securities legislation. This policy aims in particular  
at identifying material information and validating the related reporting. The Disclosure Committee, established in 2005,  
is responsible for ensuring compliance with this policy. senior management acts as the Disclosure Committee, ensuring 
compliance with this policy and reviewing main documents to be filed with regulatory authorities to ensure that all significant 
information regarding operations is communicated in a timely manner.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

On february 25, 2013, Morguard Residential ReIT reached an agreement with a syndicate of underwriters co-led by  
RbC Capital Markets and TD securities to issue to the public, subject to regulatory approval, on a bought deal basis, 
8,270,000 Units at a price of $11.50 per Unit, representing gross proceeds of $95,105 and $60,000 aggregate principal 
amount of 4.65% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures due March 30, 2018 (the “Debentures”; collectively with 
the Units, the “Offering”). The Debentures are convertible at the option of the holder into Units of the ReIT at $15.50 per 
trust unit. 

The Company has agreed to purchase 870,000 Units and $5,000 aggregate principal amount of the Debentures.  
As at December 31, 2012, the Company owned a 57.1% effective interest in the ReIT through ownership of Units and  
Class b lP Units; after the Offering the Company will hold a 48.8% effective interest in the ReIT. 

The net proceeds from the Offering will be used to partially fund the acquisition of 3,752 multi-family residential units in  
the U.s. for gross consideration of Us$457,800 and for general trust purposes. The Offering is not conditional upon the 
closing of such acquisition. 
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OUTLOOK

As 2012 progressed, the global economy at first slowed and then exhibited a modest stabilizing trend. The ongoing financial 
crisis in europe and sluggish first half U.s. results threatened to drag the global outlook downward. by the second half of 
the year, however, the outlook improved modestly. The U.s. economy showed increasingly positive trends in the second 
half of the year, with steady increases in employment and economic activity. emerging markets appeared to have achieved 
a somewhat soft landing, as expansion activity levelled after a marked decline. In Canada, activity slowed in the second 
half, although the aggregate annual remained broadly positive. even with the slowing trend in the overall economy, the 
Canadian real estate market remained surprisingly buoyant.

Canada’s GDP is estimated to have grown by roughly 2.0% in 2012; though down from the heady days of average annual 
growth in the high two’s, expansion levels were among the highest in the G7 countries. The slowing trend of the latter half 
of 2012 is expected to continue into 2013, with a slight upward trajectory expected in the second half. The west will register 
more robust expansion, driven by its resource-based industries. Canadian property markets experienced a very strong 
year in 2012. Capitalization rates continued to compress and property values increased, driven in large part by record low 
interest rates, abundant available capital and aggressive competition among investors for acquisition opportunities.

In the markets for space, occupancy levels rose in all major centres in Canada and across all product types. Multi-unit 
residential occupancy levels were strong in our Canadian and U.s. markets. Retail and office continued to be the  
top-performing product classes, registering positive sales growth (particularly in western Canada) and experiencing  
an influx of new tenant demand from U.s. retailers. In the office sector, the major downtown cores continued to tighten,  
with all markets posting strong performances. A wave of development expected over the next few years will provide 
significant medium term risk. however, business expansion is expected to minimize any negative fallout. 

The Company remains cautiously optimistic in its outlook for 2013 and expects to achieve growth in earnings and funds 
from operations mainly as a result of growth in core operations and due to acquisitions.
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The consolidated financial statements of Morguard Corporation have been prepared by management in accordance with 
International financial Reporting standards (“IfRs”). Management is responsible for the information contained in these 
consolidated financial statements and other sections of this annual report.

Management maintains a system of internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that the Company’s assets are 
safeguarded and to facilitate the preparation of relevant, reliable and timely financial information. Where necessary, 
management uses its judgment to make estimates required to ensure fair and consistent presentation of this information. 
Management recognizes its responsibility for conducting the Company’s affairs in compliance with applicable laws and 
proper standards of conduct.

As at December 31, 2012, the Chief executive Officer and Chief financial Officer evaluated, or caused the evaluation 
under their direct supervision, the disclosure controls and procedures and the internal controls over financial reporting  
(as defined in Multilateral Instrument 52-109, “Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim filings”) and,  
based on that assessment, determined that the disclosure controls and procedures were designed and operating 
effectively and the internal controls over financial reporting were designed and operating effectively.

The Audit Committee of the board of Directors of the Company, consisting solely of independent directors, has reviewed 
the consolidated financial statements, the report to shareholders of the external auditors, ernst & Young llP, and the 
management’s discussion and analysis with management and recommended their approval to the board of Directors.  
The board of Directors has approved the consolidated financial statements.

ernst & Young llP, as independent auditor, has conducted the audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
auditing standards and has had full access to the Audit Committee, with and without management being present.

K. (Rai) sahi     Paul Miatello
Chief executive Officer    Chief financial Officer

MANAGeMeNT’s RePORT  
TO shARehOlDeRs
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To the Shareholders of Morguard Corporation
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Morguard Corporation, which comprise the 
consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the consolidated statements of income, comprehensive 
income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International financial Reporting standards and for such internal control as management determines  
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted 
our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the  
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those  
risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but  
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Morguard Corporation as at December 31, 2012 and 2011, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years 
ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, in accordance with International financial Reporting standards.

Chartered Accountants
licensed Public Accountants
Toronto, Canada
March 6, 2013  

INDePeNDeNT  
AUDITORs’ RePORT
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CONsOlIDATeD  
bAlANCe sheeTs

As at December 31   
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)  Note 2012 2011

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Real estate properties  6 $ 3,329,083 $ 2,611,524
Investment in Morguard Real estate Investment Trust  7  661,150  529,859
Goodwill    24,488  24,488
Mortgages and loans receivable  8,18  –  76,813
Other assets  9  195,864  155,023

     4,210,585  3,397,707

Current assets
Mortgages and loans receivable  8,18  42,317  74
Amounts receivable    33,622  34,566
Prepaid expenses and other    21,240  6,108
Cash and cash equivalents    78,418  28,755

     175,597  69,503

    $ 4,386,182 $ 3,467,210

LIABILITIES ANd SHAREHOLdERS’ EQUITY
Non-current liabilities
Mortgages payable  10 $ 1,287,260 $ 1,202,665
Construction financing on property under development  11  17,334  –
Morguard Residential ReIT Units  13  165,390  –
Deferred income tax liabilities  19  354,726  327,834

     1,824,710  1,530,499

Current liabilities
Mortgages payable  10  257,571  107,599
loans payable  12  11,985  –
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  14  97,316  69,018
bank indebtedness  15  144,921  75,539

     511,793  252,156

Total liabilities    2,336,503  1,782,655

SHAREHOLdERS’ EQUITY    2,049,679  1,684,555

    $ 4,386,182 $ 3,467,210 

Commitments and contingencies  23

see accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the board:

K. (Rai) sahi Wayne M. e. Mcleod
Director Director
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CONsOlIDATeD sTATeMeNTs 
Of INCOMe

Years ended December 31   
(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)  Note 2012 2011

REVENUE
Revenue from income producing properties   $ 313,715 $ 297,265
Property operating costs    97,133  89,132
Realty tax expense    45,239  44,790

Net operating income    171,343  163,343
Management and advisory fees    75,858  73,556
Interest and other    20,982  14,347
sales of product and land    5,362  5,977

     273,545  257,223

EXPENSES
Interest  17  71,140  71,172
Property management and corporate    66,127  58,605
Cost of sales of product and land    3,627  4,206
Amortization of capital assets    1,863  1,646

     142,757  135,629

fair value gain on real estate properties  6  226,070  180,226
fair value loss on Morguard Residential ReIT Units  13  (3,883)  –
equity income from Morguard Real estate Investment Trust  7  77,929  68,153
Gain on sale of marketable securities  9  13,598  –
Other income (expense)    555  (2,328)

     314,269  246,051

Income before income taxes    445,057  367,645

Provision for income taxes  19
Current    34,474  26,829
Deferred    21,163  53,361

     55,637  80,190

Net income for the year   $ 389,420 $ 287,455

Net income attributable to:
     Common shareholders   $ 389,443 $ 288,026
     Non-controlling interest    (23)  (571)

    $ 389,420 $ 287,455

Net income per share attributable to:
     Common shareholders – basic and diluted  20  $30.31  $22.22

see accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CONsOlIDATeD sTATeMeNTs 
Of COMPReheNsIVe INCOMe

Years ended December 31   
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)  Note 2012 2011

Net income for the year   $ 389,420 $ 287,455

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to retained earnings:
     Unrealized gain on available-for-sale marketable securities    1,841  11,734
     Unrealized foreign currency translation (loss) gain    (2,486)  4,164
     Gain (loss) on interest rate swap agreement    2,451  (1,620)
     Amortization of cash flow hedge    740  697
     Amortization of cash flow hedge – Morguard Real estate Investment Trust  7  429  431

     2,975  15,406
Deferred income taxes    (2,335)  230

     640  15,636

Items that may not be reclassified subsequently to retained earnings:
     Reclassification for gain on available-for-sale marketable securities 
        included in net income  9  (11,734)  –
     Actuarial gain on defined benefit pension plans    14,607  4,444

     2,873  4,444
Deferred income taxes    (4,152)  (1,114)

     (1,279)  3,330

Other comprehensive (loss) income    (639)  18,966

Total comprehensive income for the year   $ 388,781 $ 306,421

Other comprehensive (loss) income attributable to:
     Common shareholders   $ (598) $ 18,987
     Non-controlling interest    (41)  (21)

    $ (639) $ 18,966

see accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CONsOlIDATeD sTATeMeNTs 
Of shARehOlDeRs’ eQUITY

    Total Retained
    earnings and
   Accumulated Accumulated
   Other Other  Non-
  Retained Comprehensive Comprehensive share Controlling
(In thousands of  Canadian dollars) earnings Income Income Capital Interest Total

shareholders’ equity, 
   january 1, 2011 $ 1,261,167 $ 8,634 $ 1,269,801 $ 115,379 $ 2,047 $ 1,387,227
Changes during the year:
     Net income (loss)  288,026  –  288,026  –  (571)  287,455
     Dividends  (7,777)  –  (7,777)  –  –  (7,777)
     Issuance of common shares  –  –  –  72  –  72
     Repurchase of common shares  (1,226)  –  (1,226)  (162)  –  (1,388)
     Other comprehensive income  –  18,987  18,987  –  (21)  18,966

shareholders’ equity, 
   December 31, 2011  1,540,190  27,621  1,567,811  115,289  1,455  1,684,555

Changes during the year:
     Net income (loss)  389,443  –  389,443  –  (23)  389,420
     Dividends  (7,708)  –  (7,708)  –  –  (7,708)
     Issuance of common shares  –  –  –  151  –  151
     Repurchase of common shares  (14,511)  –  (14,511)  (1,589)  –  (16,100)
     Other comprehensive loss  –  (598)  (598)  –  (41)  (639)

Shareholders’ equity, 
   december 31, 2012 $ 1,907,414 $ 27,023 $ 1,934,437 $ 113,851 $ 1,391 $ 2,049,679

see accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CONsOlIDATeD sTATeMeNTs 
Of CAsh flOWs

for the years ended December 31   
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)  Note 2012 2011

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income for the year   $ 389,420 $ 287,455
Items not affecting cash  21(a)  (297,053)  (190,445)
Distributions from Morguard ReIT    24,912  23,285
land held for residential development, net    (3,806)  (563)
Additions to tenant incentives and leasing commissions    (7,963)  (2,998)
Net change in operating assets and liabilities  21(b)  16,205  746

Cash provided by operating activities    121,715  117,480

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to real estate properties and tenant improvements    (430,011)  (112,209)
Additions to capital assets    (31,604)  (1,888)
Investment in property under development    (81,411)  (21,611)
Investment in Morguard ReIT    (78,081)  –
Investment in North American Residential ReIT    (3,993)  –
Proceeds from sale of publicly traded securities    14,228  (72,666)
Proceeds from sale of real estate properties    20,457  641
Decrease in mortgages and loans receivable    34,657  8,357

Cash used in investing activities    (555,758)  (199,376)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of Units, net of cost    168,629  –
Proceeds from new mortgages  10  292,811  175,489
financing cost on new mortgages    (2,583)  (3,651)
Repayment of mortgages
     Repayments on maturity    (16,221)  (57,038)
     Principal instalment repayments    (33,912)  (29,587)
Proceeds from construction financing  11  17,334  –
Net proceeds from bank indebtedness    69,382  31,734
loans payable    11,985  (27,066)
Dividends paid    (7,557)  (7,705)
Advances to Morguard ReIT  8,18  10,000  7,000
Payments from Morguard ReIT  8,18  (10,000)  (7,000)
shares purchased for cancellation    (16,100)  (1,388)
(Increase) decrease in restricted cash    (1,495)  1,938

Cash provided by financing activities    482,273  82,726

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents during the year    48,230  830
Net effect of foreign currency translation on cash balance    1,433  231
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year    28,755  27,694

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year   $ 78,418 $ 28,755

see accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTe 1

NATURE ANd dESCRIPTION OF COMPANY

Morguard Corporation (“the Company” or “Morguard”) is a real estate investment and management corporation formed 
under the laws of Canada. Morguard’s principal activities include property ownership, development and investment advisory 
services. Property ownership encompasses interests in both commercial and residential real estate. The Company owns  
a diverse portfolio of properties in Canada and the southeast United states. The Company’s head office is located at  
55 City Centre Drive, suite 1000, Mississauga, Ontario, l5b 1M3.

NOTe 2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International financial Reporting 
standards (“IfRs”) as issued by the International Accounting standards board (“IAsb”).

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the board of Directors on March 6, 2013.

Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its subsidiaries and the Company’s proportionate 
share of the accounts of its co-ownership interests, which include incorporated and unincorporated joint ventures. The Company 
consolidates its principal operating companies based on control. The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a 
historical basis, except for investment property and derivative financial instruments, which are carried at fair value.

Co-Ownerships
A special purpose entity (“sPe”) is an entity created to accomplish a narrow and well-defined objective and may take the 
form of a corporation, trust, partnership or unincorporated entity. The primary beneficiary is the enterprise that will absorb 
or receive the majority of the sPe’s expected losses, expected residual returns or both. IfRs requires the consolidation of 
sPes by the primary beneficiary. The Company has concluded that its co-ownerships are not sPes and represent interests 
in jointly controlled assets that will be accounted for using the proportionate consolidation method.

Investment in Morguard Real Estate Investment Trust (“Morguard REIT”)
entities that are not controlled, but over which the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence, are accounted 
for using the equity method. The Company accounts for its investment in Morguard ReIT using the equity method.

Real Estate Investments
Real estate investments whereby the Company exercises significant influence are accounted for using the equity method, 
and those whereby the Company does not exercise significant influence are accounted for using the cost method. Real estate 
investments represent the Company’s interests in three partnerships and are included in real estate properties on the 
consolidated balance sheets. 

Real Estate Properties
Real estate properties include residential, retail and commercial properties held to earn rental income and for capital 
appreciation (income producing properties). Real estate properties also include properties or land that are being 
constructed or developed for future use as income producing properties and other real estate investments. 

NOTes TO CONsOlIDATeD  
fINANCIAl sTATeMeNTs
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share and per share amounts)
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notes to consolidated financial stateMents

Income Producing Properties
Income producing property that is acquired as an asset purchase and not as a business combination is recorded initially  
at cost, including transaction costs. Transaction costs include transfer taxes, professional fees for legal services and initial 
leasing commissions. 

subsequent to initial recognition, income producing properties are recorded at fair value. The changes in fair value each 
reporting period will be recorded in the consolidated statements of income. In order to avoid double counting, the carrying 
value of income producing properties includes straight-line rent receivable, tenant improvements, tenant incentives and 
direct leasing costs since these amounts are incorporated in the appraised values of the real estate properties. fair value 
is based upon external and internal valuations using recognized valuation techniques, including the direct capitalization 
income and discounted cash flow methods. Recent real estate transactions with characteristics and location similar to  
the Company’s assets are also considered. The direct capitalization income method applies a capitalization rate to the 
property’s stabilized net operating income, which incorporates allowances for vacancy, management fees and structural 
reserves for capital expenditures for the property. The resulting appraised value is further adjusted, where appropriate,  
for non-recurring costs to stabilize the income and non-recoverable capital expenditures.

Tenant improvements include costs incurred to meet the Company’s lease obligations and are classified as either tenant 
improvements owned by the landlord or tenant incentives. When the obligation is determined to be a tenant improvement 
that benefits the landlord and is owned by the landlord, the improvement is accounted for as a capital expenditure and 
included in the carrying amount of income producing properties on the consolidated balance sheets.

leasing costs include initial direct costs associated with leasing activities such as commissions. These costs are included 
in the carrying amount of income producing properties on the consolidated balance sheets. 

Properties Under Development
The cost of properties under development includes all expenditures incurred in connection with the acquisition, including  
all direct development costs, realty taxes and tenanting of a building to prepare it for its productive use, the applicable 
portion of general and administrative expenses and borrowing costs directly attributable to the development. borrowing costs 
associated with direct expenditures on properties under development or redevelopment are capitalized. borrowing costs 
are also capitalized on the purchase cost of a site or property acquired specifically for redevelopment in the short term if 
the activities necessary to prepare the asset for development or redevelopment are in progress. The amount of borrowing 
costs capitalized is determined by reference to interest incurred on debt specific to the development project. borrowing costs 
are capitalized from the commencement of the development until the date of practical completion. The capitalization  
of borrowing costs is suspended if there are prolonged periods when development activity is interrupted. The Company 
considers practical completion to have occurred when the property is capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. Generally this occurs upon completion of construction and receipt of all necessary occupancy and other 
material permits. Where the Company has pre-leased space as of or prior to the start of the development and the lease 
requires the Company to construct tenant improvements that enhance the value of the property, practical completion is 
considered to occur on completion of such improvements.

Properties under development are measured at fair value with changes in fair value being recognized in the consolidated 
statements of income when fair value can be reliably determined. however, where fair value is not reliably determinable, 
the property is measured at cost until the earlier of the date construction is completed or the date at which fair value 
becomes reliably determinable. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, balances with banks and short-term deposits with remaining maturities 
at the time of acquisition of three months or less. bank borrowings are considered to be financing activities.

Goodwill
On acquisition of a business, the underlying fair value of net identifiable tangible and intangible assets is determined, and 
goodwill is recognized as the excess of the purchase price over this amount. Goodwill is not amortized. Goodwill is tested 
for impairment on an annual basis to determine whether the fair value of the reporting unit to which goodwill has been 
attributed is less than the carrying value of the reporting unit’s net assets including goodwill, thus indicating impairment. 
Any impairment is then recorded as a separate charge against income and a reduction of the carrying value of goodwill.
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notes to consolidAted finAnciAl stAtements

Capital Assets
Capital assets are stated at cost and include land associated with a hotel property and the following assets, which are 
amortized over their estimated useful lives using the following rates and methods: 

building (hotel and owner-occupied property) straight-line over 40 years
furniture, fixtures, office and computer equipment 10–20% straight-line
leasehold improvements straight-line over the term of the lease
Condominium straight-line over 40 years

Inventory Properties – Land for Residential developments
land for residential development properties that is acquired or improved for sale in the ordinary course of business is 
recorded at the lower of cost or estimated net realizable value and is classified on the consolidated balance sheets as 
residential inventory properties, which are included as part of “other assets.” Costs are allocated to the saleable acreage  
of each project or subdivision in proportion to the anticipated revenue and include borrowing costs directly attributable to 
projects under active development. Residential developments are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes  
in circumstances indicate the carrying value may exceed net realizable value. An impairment loss is recognized in income 
when the carrying value of the land exceeds its net realizable value. Net realizable value represents the amount of estimated 
net sales proceeds, taking into account management’s assumptions and projections for the development of the property 
and market conditions. 

Provisions
A provision is a liability of uncertain timing or amount. Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present legal  
or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the 
obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are measured at the present value for the expenditures 
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a discount rate that reflects current market assessment of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. Provisions are remeasured at each consolidated balance sheet date 
using the current discount rate. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as interest expense.

Income Taxes
The Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the liability method of tax allocation,  
current income tax assets and liabilities are based on the amount expected to be paid to tax authorities, net of recoveries, 
based on the tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the consolidated balance sheet dates. Deferred income 
tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets  
and liabilities and are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the 
differences are expected to reverse. Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, 
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that deductions, tax credits and 
tax losses can be utilized. The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each consolidated balance 
sheet date and reduced to the extent it is no longer probable that the income tax asset will be recovered. 

Revenue Recognition
The Company has retained substantially all of the risks and benefits of ownership of its real estate properties and therefore 
accounts for leases with its tenants as operating leases. Revenue from properties includes rents from tenants under leases, 
percentage participation rents, property tax and operating cost recoveries, lease cancellation fees, leasing concessions, 
parking income and incidental income. Percentage participation rents are accrued based on sales estimates submitted  
by tenants if the tenant anticipates attaining the minimum sales level stipulated in the tenant lease. All other rental revenue 
is recognized in accordance with each lease. 

Revenue from real estate properties recorded in the consolidated statements of income during free rent periods  
represents future cash receipts and is reflected in the consolidated balance sheets in carrying value of real estate 
properties and recognized in the consolidated statements of income on a straight-line basis over the initial term of the lease. 
The Company accounts for stepped rents on a straight-line basis. Rents recorded in advance of cash received are included 
in amounts receivable. Tenant incentives are deducted from rental revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
tenant’s lease.
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notes to consolidated financial stateMents

Revenue from development activities related to residential, retail and commercial properties is recognized upon  
substantial completion of the development project and when the property is capable of operating in the manner intended  
by management, which generally occurs upon completion of construction and receipt of all necessary occupancy and  
other material permits. 

Revenue from land sales and gains from the sale of real estate properties are recognized when all material conditions  
of the related agreement of purchase and sale have been met, the risks of ownership have passed to the purchaser and  
at least 15% of the total purchase price has been received.

Management and advisory fees and sales of product are recognized when the service is performed or goods are shipped 
and ownership is legally transferred. 

Business Combinations
The purchase method of accounting is used for acquisitions meeting the definition of a business. The consideration 
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair 
values of the assets transferred to the acquirer and the liabilities incurred by the acquirer. Any transaction costs incurred 
with respect to the business combination are expensed in the period incurred.

Employee Future Benefits
The Company provides pensions to certain of its employees under two defined benefit arrangements and recognizes the 
cost of the defined benefit plans in the period in which the employee has rendered services. The cost of benefits earned  
by employees is actuarially determined using the projected benefit method pro-rated on service and management’s best 
estimate of expected returns on plan assets, compensation increases, retirement ages of employees and future termination 
levels. No past service costs have been incurred under these plans. for the purpose of calculating the expected return on 
plan assets, those assets are valued at fair value. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in full in the period in which 
they occur and are presented in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. The current service cost and gains 
and losses on settlement and curtailments are charged to operating income. The discount rate used to calculate pension 
obligations is determined on the basis of current market rates and re-evaluated at each year-end. 

Stock-Based Compensation
The Company has a stock appreciation rights (“sARs”) plan, which entitles specified officers of Morguard and affiliated 
entities and directors to receive a cash payment equal to the excess of the market price of Morguard’s common shares at the 
time of exercise over the grant-date price of the right. The Company accounts for the sARs plan using the fair value method. 
Under this method, compensation expense for the sARs plan is measured at fair value at the grant date using the  
black-scholes option pricing model and recognized over the vesting period. The liability is measured at each reporting 
date at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in the consolidated statements of income. 

Foreign Exchange
The operations of the Company’s U.s.-based subsidiaries are in U.s. dollars, which represent the functional currency of 
the subsidiaries. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into Canadian dollars at the 
rates on the consolidated balance sheet dates. Revenues and expenses are translated at the average rate of exchange  
for the period. The resulting gains and losses are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income.

    2012 2011

Canadian dollar to United states dollar exchange rates:
     December 31    $1.0051  $0.9833
     Average during the year    $1.0004  $1.0110
United states dollar to Canadian dollar exchange rates:
     December 31    $0.9949  $1.0170
     Average during the year    $0.9996  $0.9891



552012 AnnuAl RepoRt

 
notes to consolidAted finAnciAl stAtements

Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income is defined as the change in equity from transactions and other events from non-owner sources. 
Other comprehensive income (“OCI”) refers to items recognized in comprehensive income that are excluded from net income. 
Accordingly, the Company prepares consolidated statements of comprehensive income and includes accumulated other 
comprehensive income as a component of shareholders’ equity within the consolidated balance sheets. OCI generally would 
include unrealized gains and losses on financial assets classified as available for sale, changes in the fair value of the 
effective portion of cash flow hedging instruments, unrealized foreign currency translation adjustments net of hedging 
arising from foreign operations, and actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit pension plans. 

Income Per Share
basic income per share is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
in each respective period. Diluted income per share is calculated by dividing net income, adjusted for the effect of  
dilutive securities, by the weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding.

Financial Instruments
Recognition and Measurement of Financial Instruments
financial assets must be classified into one of the following categories: held for trading, loans and receivables, fair value 
through profit or loss or available-for-sale assets. financial liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities. All financial 
instruments, including derivatives, are measured in the consolidated balance sheets at fair value except for loans and 
receivables and other financial liabilities, which are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.

The Company designated its cash and cash equivalents as held for trading and its amounts receivable and mortgages  
and loans receivable as loans and receivables, which are measured at amortized cost. Investments in publicly traded 
securities, included in other assets, have been classified as available for sale, and the unrealized gains and losses on  
these securities are recorded in OCI. bank indebtedness, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and long-term debt 
obligations are classified as other financial liabilities, which are measured at amortized cost. Real estate investments  
are available for sale and are carried at cost as there is no public market. 

Derivatives and Embedded Derivatives
All derivative instruments, including embedded derivatives, are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets at fair value 
unless exempted from derivative treatment as a normal purchase and sale. All changes in their fair value are recorded in 
income unless cash flow hedge accounting is used, in which case changes in fair value are recorded in OCI to the extent  
of hedge effectiveness. financial guarantees are recorded at their inception date fair value and reversed as the Company 
is relieved of its guarantee obligations.

Hedges
Derivative financial instruments are utilized to reduce interest rate risk on the Company’s debt. Interest rate swap 
agreements are used to manage the fixed and floating interest rate mix of the Company’s total debt portfolio and related 
overall cost of borrowing. such instruments are designated, and are effective, as hedges of certain of the Company’s 
interest rate risk exposures. The interest rate swap agreements involve the periodic exchange of payments without the 
exchange of the notional principal amount upon which the payments are based. The net receipt or payment of interest  
will be recorded as an adjustment to interest expense in each period. 

Gains and losses on termination of interest rate swap agreements that were designated, and were effective, as hedges of 
certain interest rate risk exposures are included in accumulated other comprehensive income and are amortized in interest 
expense over the remaining term of the original contract life of the terminated swap agreement. Interest expense on the 
related debt obligation together with this deferred financing cost amortization reflects the overall costs of such borrowing.

Transaction Costs
Transaction costs are incremental costs directly related to the acquisition of a financial asset or the issuance of a  
financial liability. 

Direct and indirect financing costs that are attributable to the issue of financial liabilities are presented as a reduction from 
the carrying amount of the related debt and are amortized using the effective interest rate method over the terms of the 
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related debt. These costs include interest, amortization of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings, fees and 
commissions paid to agents, brokers and advisers and transfer taxes and duties that are incurred in connection with  
the arrangement of borrowings. 

Transaction costs associated with asset acquisitions are capitalized, and those associated with business acquisitions  
are expensed as incurred.

Fair Value
The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount of consideration that could be agreed upon in an arm’s-length 
transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act. In certain circumstances, 
however, the initial fair value may be based on other observable current market transactions in the same instrument, 
without modification or on a valuation technique using market-based inputs. The Company’s financial assets include cash 
and cash equivalents, amounts receivable, mortgages and loans receivable and investments in publicly traded securities. 
The Company’s financial liabilities include accounts payable and accrued liabilities, mortgages and loans payable and  
bank indebtedness. except as noted below, the carrying values of the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities 
approximate their fair values because of the short period of time until the receipt or payment of cash. The fair values  
of mortgages and loans receivable are based on the current market conditions for financing loans with similar terms  
and risks. The loan payable is reflected at fair value since the loan’s interest rate is based on a floating interest rate using 
the 30-day Canadian bankers’ acceptance rate as the benchmark. The fair values of designated hedging derivatives 
included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are estimated based on discounted future cash flows using discount 
rates that reflect current market conditions for instruments with similar terms and risks.

fair value measurements recognized in the consolidated balance sheets are categorized using a fair value hierarchy  
that reflects the significance of inputs used in determining the fair values:

level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
level 2:  Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities or valuation techniques where significant inputs  

are based on observable market data.
level 3: Valuation techniques for which any significant input is not based on observable market data.

each type of fair value is categorized based on the lowest-level input that is significant to the fair value measurement  
in its entirety.

Critical Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies
The following are the critical judgments that have been made in applying the Company’s accounting policies and that  
have the most significant effect on the amounts in the consolidated financial statements:

Real Estate Properties
The Company’s accounting policies relating to real estate properties are described above. In applying these policies, 
judgment has been applied in determining whether certain costs are additions to the carrying amount of the property,  
in distinguishing between tenant incentives and tenant improvements, and, for properties under development, identifying the 
point at which practical completion of the property occurs and identifying the directly attributable borrowing costs to be 
included in the carrying value of the development property. judgment is also applied in determining the extent and frequency 
of independent appraisals. The key assumptions are further defined in Note 6.

Income Taxes
The Company applies judgment in determining the tax rate applicable to its investment in Morguard ReIT and identifying 
the temporary differences related to its investment with respect to which deferred income taxes are recognized. 

Leases
The Company makes judgments in determining whether certain leases, in particular those leases with long contractual 
terms where the lessee is the sole tenant in a property and long-term ground leases where the Company is the lessee,  
are operating or finance leases. The Company has determined that all of its tenant leases and long-term ground leases are 
operating leases. 
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Company applies judgment in determining the fair value of financial instruments. The fair value of financial instruments 
approximates amounts at which these instruments could be exchanged between knowledgeable and willing parties.  
The estimated fair value may differ in amount from that which could be realized on an immediate settlement of the instruments. 
The Company estimates the fair value of mortgages payable by discounting the cash flows of these financial obligations 
using market rates for debts of similar terms.

Business Combinations (“IFRS 3”)
Accounting for business combinations under IfRs 3, “business Combinations,” applies only if it is considered that a 
business has been acquired. Under IfRs 3, a business is defined as an integrated set of activities and assets conducted 
and managed for the purposes of providing a return to investors or lower costs or other economic benefits directly and 
proportionately to the Company. A business generally consists of inputs, processes applied to those inputs, and resulting 
outputs that are, or will be, used to generate revenues. judgment is used by management in determining if the acquisition 
of an individual property qualifies as a business combination in accordance with IfRs 3 or as an asset acquisition.

When determining whether the acquisition of a real estate property or a portfolio of properties is a business combination  
or an asset acquisition, the Company applies judgment when considering whether the real estate property or properties 
are capable of producing outputs and whether the market participant could produce outputs if missing elements exist. 

Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
consolidated financial statements and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. 

In determining estimates of fair market value and net realizable values for the Company’s real estate properties, the assumptions 
underlying estimated values are limited by the availability of comparable data and the uncertainty of predictions concerning 
future events. should the underlying assumptions change, actual results could differ from the estimated amounts. The critical 
estimates and assumptions underlying the valuation of real estate properties are outlined in Note 6.

In addition, the computation of cost reimbursements from tenants for realty taxes, insurance and common area maintenance 
charges is complex and involves a number of estimates, including the interpretation of terms and other tenant lease provisions. 
Tenant leases are not consistent in dealing with such cost reimbursements, and variations in computations can exist. 
Adjustments are made throughout the year to these cost recovery revenues based upon the Company’s best estimate of 
the final amounts to be billed and collected.

NOTe 3

AdOPTION OF ACCOUNTING STANdARdS

Income Taxes (“IAS 12”)
In December 2010, the IAsb made amendments to IAs 12, “Income Taxes,” that are applicable to the measurement of deferred 
tax assets and liabilities where investment property is measured using the fair value model in IAs 40, “Investment Property.” 
The amendments introduce a rebuttable presumption that, for purposes of determining deferred tax consequences associated 
with temporary differences relating to investment properties, the carrying amount of the investment property is recovered 
entirely through the sale of the property. This presumption is rebutted if the investment property is held within a business 
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time, 
rather than through sale. The amendments to IAs 12 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after january 1, 2012, 
and have been adopted in the preparation of these financial statements. The amendments had minimal impact on the 
financial statements since the Company had been applying this approach in calculating deferred income taxes under IfRs.
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Presentation of Financial Statements (“IAS 1”)
IAs 1, “Presentation of financial statements,” will require companies to group items presented in OCI on the basis of 
whether they will or will not subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss. The Company has adopted IAs 1.

NOTe 4

FUTURE ACCOUNTING POLICY CHANGES

each of the standards below is effective for annual periods beginning on or after january 1, 2013, with the exception of 
IfRs 9, which requires adoption effective january 1, 2015, and the amended version of IAs 1, which is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after july 1, 2012. earlier adoption is permitted for each standard.

Consolidated Financial Statements (“IFRS 10”)
IfRs 10, “Consolidated financial statements,” will replace IAs 27, “Consolidated and separate financial statements,”  
and sIC-12, “Consolidation – special Purpose entities,” and provides a single model for consolidation based on a revised 
definition of control that states that an entity has control over another entity if it has the ability to direct the activities of  
that entity, even if the investor holds less than 50% of the voting rights of the investee. The standard is required to be 
applied retrospectively to prior periods presented.

The impact of this standard will be significant for the Company since under IfRs 10 the Company will be required to 
account for its investment in Morguard ReIT using the consolidation method. Currently, under IfRs, the Company accounts 
for its investment in Morguard ReIT using the equity method. The impact of this change on the Company’s consolidated 
balance sheets as at December 31, 2011, is an increase to total assets of approximately $1,608,000, an increase to total 
liabilities of approximately $964,000 and an increase in non-controlling interests and retained earnings of approximately 
$644,000. for the year ended December 31, 2011, the impact to net income attributable to common shareholders is an 
increase of $3,000. The impact on per share amounts is an increase of $0.22 per share.

Joint Arrangements (“IFRS 11”)
IfRs 11, “joint Arrangements,” will replace IAs 31, “Interests in joint Ventures.” IfRs 11 requires that reporting issuers 
consider whether a joint arrangement is structured through a separate vehicle, as well as the terms of the contractual 
arrangement and other relevant facts and circumstances, to assess whether the venture is entitled to only the net assets of 
the joint arrangement (“joint venture”) or to its share of the assets and liabilities of the joint arrangement (“a joint operation”). 
The standard is required to be applied retrospectively to prior periods presented. The Company does not expect that this 
standard will result in a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (“IFRS 12”)
IfRs 12, “Disclosure of Interests in Other entities,” applies to entities that have an interest in a subsidiary, a joint arrangement, 
an associate or an unconsolidated structured entity. The standard requires the Company to disclose information that 
enables users of the financial statements to evaluate (i) the nature of, and risks associated with, the Company’s interests  
in other entities and (ii) the effects of those interests on the Company’s financial position, financial performance and cash 
flows. Adoption of this standard will not materially affect the consolidated financial statements.

Fair Value Measurement (“IFRS 13”)
IfRs 13, “fair Value Measurement,” replaces the current guidance on fair value measurement in existing IfRss with a  
single standard. The standard defines fair value, provides guidance on its determination and requires disclosures about  
fair value measurements but does not change the requirements about the items that should be measured and disclosed  
at fair value. The Company does not expect that this standard will result in a material impact on the consolidated  
financial statements.
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Employee Benefits (“IAS 19”)
IAs 19, “employee benefits,” has been amended to eliminate the option to defer the recognition of gains and losses, 
streamlining the presentation of changes to assets and liabilities with all changes from remeasurement to be recognized  
in other comprehensive income and enhancing the disclosure of the characteristics of defined benefit plans and the risks 
that companies are exposed to through participation in those plans. The Company expects the adoption of the amendments 
to IAs 19 to have a minimal impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements since the Company elected the 
“fresh start” exemption and recognized through retained earnings all cumulative unamortized actuarial gains and 
transitional obligations relating to its defined benefit pension plans. 

Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”)
IfRs 9, “financial Instruments,” will replace IAs 39, “financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement,” and applies to 
the classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities as defined in IAs 39. The approach in IfRs 9 
is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the context of its business model and the contractual cash 
flow characteristics of its financial assets. The Company has not yet determined the impact of IfRs 9 on its consolidated 
financial statements.

NOTe 5

MORGUARd NORTH AMERICAN RESIdENTIAL REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST

On April 18, 2012, the Company completed an initial public offering (“IPO”) of trust units of Morguard North American 
Residential Real estate Investment Trust (“Morguard Residential ReIT” or the “ReIT”). The IPO raised gross proceeds  
of $75,000. A total of 7,500,000 trust units were sold at a price of $10.00 per trust unit. On April 24, 2012, the underwriters 
exercised in full their over-allotment option to purchase 750,000 additional trust units at a price of $10.00 per trust unit, 
which increased the total gross proceeds of the IPO to $82,500. The total proceeds received, net of underwriters’ 
commission was $77,550. The trust units of the ReIT (“Units”) trade on the Toronto stock exchange (the “TsX”) under  
the symbol “MRG.UN.”

Morguard has accounted for the transaction as a reorganization and recapitalization of its existing operations. The Units 
of the ReIT are redeemable at the option of the holder and, therefore, are considered puttable instruments that meet the 
definition of a financial liability under IAs 32, “financial Instruments – Presentation.” Whereas certain exceptions  
in IAs 32 allow the ReIT to classify the Units as equity in its own balance sheet, this exception is not available to the 
Company, and therefore the non-controlling interest that these Units represent is classified as a liability in the consolidated 
financial statements of the Company. The Units are measured at their redemption amount with changes in the redemption 
amount recorded in income in the period of change. 

On september 12, 2012, the ReIT completed an offering of $150,732 for 12,720,000 Units sold at a price of $11.85 per Unit. 
The proceeds of the Offering, after underwriters’ commission, were $146,703. Morguard acquired 4,220,000 of the Units 
issued on september 12, 2012. 

During the quarter ended December 31, 2012, the Company purchased 355,166 Units of Morguard Residential ReIT in an 
open-market transaction at an average price of $11.24 per Unit. At December 31, 2012 Morguard owned a 57.1% effective 
interest in Morguard Residential ReIT.
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NOTe 6

REAL ESTATE PROPERTIES

Real estate properties consist of the following:

   december 31, December 31,
As at   2012 2011

Income producing properties   $ 3,159,863 $ 2,522,445
Properties under development    121,309  60,000
land held for development    17,086  15,411
Real estate investments    30,825  13,668

    $ 3,329,083 $ 2,611,524

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts for real estate properties at the beginning and end of the current financial period 
are set out below:

   Income  Properties  Land  
   Producing  Under  Held for  Real Estate
   Properties  development  development  Investments  Total

balance at january 1, 2012 $ 2,522,445 $ 60,000 $ 15,411 $ 13,668  $2,611,524
Additions:
     Acquisitions and investments  388,536  –  2,334  13,772  404,642
     Capital expenditures/capitalized costs  19,501  81,184  –  –  100,685
     Tenant improvements, incentives 
        and commissions  16,240  –  –  –  16,240
     Property transferred from land held for 
        development to income producing properties  908  –  (908)  –  –
Dispositions  (180)  (19,875)  –  –  (20,055)
fair value gains  225,642  –  428  –  226,070
foreign currency translation  (13,392)  –  (179)  (58)  (13,629)
Other changes  163  –  –  3,443  3,606

balance at December 31, 2012 $ 3,159,863 $ 121,309 $ 17,086 $ 30,825 $ 3,329,083

Acquisitions/Dispositions
On july 31, 2012, the Company acquired Woodbine Apartments for a purchase price of Us$42,100. Woodbine Apartments  
is a three-storey residential walk-up garden community comprising 408 suites in 17 buildings situated on 19 acres of land 
located in florida.

On August 29, 2012, the Company acquired blue Isle Apartments for a purchase price of Us$40,000. blue Isle Apartments 
is a two-storey residential walk-up garden community comprising 340 suites in 23 buildings situated on 18 acres of land 
located in florida.

On september 12, 2012, the Company sold 50% of its interest in 150 elgin, located in Ottawa, to a third party as a 
co-owner for total sales proceeds of $20,292.

On september 28, 2012, the Company acquired Coral lake development land in florida for a total purchase price  
of Us$2,070.

On December 7, 2012, the Company acquired land adjacent to North shore square, louisiana, for a total purchase price  
of Us$1,779.
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On December 20, 2012, the Company acquired Alta at K station, a high-rise residential rental complex comprising  
848 suites in Chicago for a purchase price of Us$302,000.

   Income  Properties  land  
   Producing  Under  held for  Real estate
   Properties  Development  Development  Investments  Total

balance at january 1, 2011 $ 2,235,106 $ 25,445 $ 15,388 $ 5,743 $ 2,281,682
Additions:
     Acquisitions and investments  78,745  6,502  –  9,067  94,314
     Capital expenditures/capitalized costs  20,611  15,358  –  –  35,969
     Tenant improvements, incentives 
        and commissions  6,977  –  –  –  6,977
     Property transferred from income producing
        properties to properties under development  (13,000)  13,000  –  –  –
Dispositions  (648)  –  –  –  (648)
fair value gains (losses)  180,723  (305)  (192)  –  180,226
foreign currency translation  13,399  –  216  24  13,639
Other changes  532  –  (1)  (1,166)  (635)

balance at December 31, 2011 $ 2,522,445 $ 60,000 $ 15,411 $ 13,668 $ 2,611,524

Acquisitions
On february 28, 2011, the Company acquired boynton Town Center, a retail unenclosed shopping centre in boynton beach, 
florida, for a purchase price of Us$59,000. 

On August 29, 2011, the Company acquired the remaining 50% interest in a U.s. retail unenclosed shopping centre in 
Gretna, louisiana, and also acquired the land underlying the centre. In addition, the Company acquired a single tenant 
retail property that is adjacent to a retail shopping centre owned by the Company in Kenner, louisiana, and acquired  
the underlying land of the adjacent centre. These acquisitions amounted to a total cost of approximately Us$3,200.

On December 29, 2011, the Company acquired Village Crossing, a residential property located in West Palm beach, 
florida, comprising 189 units for a purchase price of Us$16,200.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company acquired land for a purchase price of $6,502 for a development 
project in Ottawa, Ontario.

for the years ended December 31, 2012, and December 31, 2011, the Company’s Canadian portfolio was predominantly 
appraised internally by its appraisal division, and the U.s. portfolio was predominantly externally appraised by an independent 
national U.s. real estate appraisal firm. Approximately 35.0% of the Company’s portfolio was externally appraised at 
December 31, 2012 (2011 – 31.0%).

The Company determined the fair value of each real estate property based upon, among other things, rental income  
from current leases and assumptions about rental income from future leases reflecting market conditions at the applicable 
consolidated balance sheet dates, less future cash outflow pertaining to the respective leases. The Company’s multi-unit 
residential properties are appraised using the direct capitalization income method. The retail, office and industrial properties 
are appraised using a number of approaches that typically include a discounted cash flow analysis, a direct capitalization 
income method and a direct comparison approach. The discounted cash flow analysis is primarily based on discounting 
the expected future cash flows, generally over a term of 10 years, including a terminal value based on the application of  
a capitalization rate to estimated year 11 cash flows. 
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Using the direct capitalization income approach, the properties were valued using capitalization rates in the range of  
4.5% to 9.5% applied to a stabilized net operating income (2011 – 5.3% to 9.5%), resulting in an overall weighted average 
capitalization rate of 5.8% (2011 – 6.5%). The capitalization rates by product type are set out in the following table: 

  december 31, 2012    December 31, 2011

      Weighted   Weighted
    Maximum Minimum Average Maximum Minimum Average

Canada
     Multi-unit residential    5.0% 4.5% 4.8% 5.8% 5.3% 5.6%
     Retail    7.5% 5.5% 6.3% 8.3% 6.0% 6.7%
     Office and industrial    8.5% 5.3% 6.3% 8.5% 5.8% 6.7%
United States 
     Multi-unit residential    8.5% 4.8% 5.7% 8.5% 5.5% 7.0%
     Retail    9.5% 6.5% 7.8% 9.5% 7.0% 7.9%

The key valuation metrics used in the discounted cash flow method for the retail, office and industrial properties are set out 
in the following table:

  december 31, 2012    December 31, 2011

      Weighted   Weighted
     Maximum Minimum Average Maximum Minimum Average

Canada
     Retail
          Discount rate    8.8% 6.8% 7.6% 9.0% 7.0% 7.9%
          Terminal cap rate    7.8% 5.8% 6.6% 8.3% 5.8% 6.9%
     Office/industrial
          Discount rate    9.3% 6.5% 7.2% 9.3% 7.0% 7.6%
          Terminal cap rate    8.5% 5.8% 6.5% 10.5% 6.3% 7.0%
United States 
     Retail
          Discount rate    10.8% 8.0% 8.8% 10.8% 8.3% 8.9%
          Terminal cap rate    9.8% 7.0% 8.1% 9.8% 7.3% 8.1%

Values are most sensitive to changes in discount rates, capitalization rates and timing or variability of cash flows.

Included in real estate properties is $41,024 (2011 – $27,833) of net straight-line rent and incentive receivables arising  
from the recognition of rental revenue net of incentives on a straight-line basis over the lease term in accordance with  
IAs 17, “leases.”

The Company’s multi-unit residential and office properties under development have been measured at cost since the projects 
are within their initial stages of development and their fair value cannot be reliably estimated at this time. During the year 
ended December 31, 2012, borrowing costs of $1,051 (December 31, 2011 – $137) were incurred on debt specific to the 
development projects and were capitalized to the development projects. As at December 31, 2012, the estimated costs to 
complete the development projects are approximately $171,000.

Real Estate Investments
On january 11, 2012, the Company entered into an agreement to participate in a U.s. real estate income fund (“the fund”). 
The Company has committed up to Us$50,000 for investment in the fund and will account for its investment using the cost 
method. The total investment in the fund as at December 31, 2012, is Us$8,132.

On May 24, 2011, the Company entered into a partnership agreement to undertake a development project. The Company 
has joint control over the partnership and accounts for its investment using the equity method. The total investment in the 
partnership as at December 31, 2012, is $6,254 (2011 – $3,390).
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On june 30, 2010, the Company entered into an agreement to participate in a U.s. limited partnership real estate fund  
and accounts for its investment using the cost method. The Company has committed up to Us$20,000 for the investment 
in the fund. The total investment in the fund as at December 31, 2012, is Us$7,711 (2011 – Us$7,715).

On November 26, 2010, the Company entered into an agreement to invest in the MIl Industrial fund II limited Partnership 
(the “MIl fund”), a real estate fund, whereby an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company is the general partner. 
The Company has committed up to $15,000 for the investment in the MIl fund, which represents an 18.75% ownership  
in the MIl fund. The Company accounts for its investment using the equity method since the Company has the ability to 
exercise significant influence over the MIl fund as a result of its role as general partner. The total investment in the MIl 
fund as at December 31, 2012, is $8,874 (2011 – $2,668).

NOTe 7

INVESTMENT IN MORGUARd REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST 

As at December 31, 2012, the Company owned 27,484,405 units (2011 – 25,869,405 units) of Morguard Real estate 
Investment Trust (“Morguard ReIT”), which represents a 42.9% (2011 – 44.8%) ownership. The units of Morguard ReIT trade 
on the TsX under the symbol “MRT.UN.” The closing price on the TsX of Morguard ReIT’s units as at December 31, 2012, 
was $18.28. The book value per unit of the Company’s investment in Morguard ReIT was $22.24 as at December 31, 2012. 

Years ended December 31   2012 2011

Investment in Morguard ReIT, beginning of the year   $ 529,859 $ 484,560
equity income    98,920  70,524
Dividends received and receivable    (25,148)  (23,285)
loss on dilution of ownership    (20,991)  (2,371)
Amortization of cash flow hedge equity-accounted    429  431
Purchase of debentures    50,000  –
Purchase of Morguard ReIT units    28,081  –

Investment in Morguard ReIT, end of the year   $ 661,150 $ 529,859

On september 22, 2009, Morguard ReIT issued $90,000 principal amount of 6.50% convertible unsecured subordinated 
debentures (the “2009 Debentures”), maturing on september 30, 2014. During the year ended December 31, 2012, 
Morguard ReIT converted all the outstanding 2009 Debentures in the amount of $88,636 (2011 – $11,414) into 6,331,124 
ReIT units (2011 – 815,280 units). The resulting dilution loss of $20,991 for the year ended December 31, 2012, (2011 –  
$2,371) has been included in equity income from Morguard ReIT in the consolidated statements of income. 

On October 31, 2012, Morguard ReIT issued $150,000 principal amount of 4.85% convertible unsecured subordinated 
debentures, maturing on October 31, 2017 (the “2012 Debentures”). The 2012 Debentures are convertible, at the option  
of the holder, into trust units of Morguard ReIT at $24.60 per trust unit. As part of the transaction, the Company purchased 
$50,000 of the Debentures being offered.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company purchased 1,615,000 units of Morguard ReIT (2011 – nil)  
through open-market transactions for cash consideration of $28,081. 

As a result of the above transactions, the Company’s ownership in Morguard ReIT decreased from 44.8% as at  
December 31, 2011, to 42.9% as at December 31, 2012.
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The following details the Company’s share of Morguard ReIT’s aggregated assets and liabilities and results of operations 
for the following years:

   december 31, December 31,
As at   2012 2011

Real estate properties   $ 1,147,142 $ 949,985
Non–current assets    79  36
Current assets    13,190  8,170

Total assets   $ 1,160,411 $ 958,191

Non-current liabilities   $ 359,067 $ 382,293
Current liabilities    187,825  50,082

Total liabilities   $ 546,892 $ 432,375

Years ended December 31   2012 2011

Revenue   $ 111,595 $ 106,805
expenses    (73,671)  (71,239)
fair value gains on real estate properties    62,480  36,151

Net income   $ 100,404 $ 71,717

NOTe 8

MORTGAGES ANd LOANS RECEIVABLE

Mortgages and loans receivable consist of the following:

   december 31, December 31,
As at   2012 2011

loans receivable – Morguard ReIT   $ 30,610 $ –
loans receivable – other    9,707  74,813
Mortgages receivable    2,000  2,074

Total mortgages and loans receivable   $ 42,317 $ 76,887

Classification of mortgages and loans receivable
     Current portion   $ 42,317 $ 74
     Non-current portion    –  76,813

    $ 42,317 $ 76,887

Loans Receivable – Morguard REIT
The Company has a revolving loan agreement with Morguard ReIT that provides for either party to borrow up to $50,000, 
at each party’s bank borrowing rate, which can be priced at either the prime rate or the bankers’ acceptance rate plus 
applicable stamping fees. On April 18, 2012, the Company advanced $10,000 to Morguard ReIT, which was fully repaid  
on August 29, 2012. As at December 31, 2012, $30,610 was outstanding from Morguard ReIT under the loan agreement. 
The Company received interest in the amount of $447 for the year ended December 31, 2012 (2011 – $10). During the year 
ended December 31, 2011, the Company advanced $7,000 to Morguard ReIT, and the amount was repaid in full.

Loans Receivable – Other
The Company had a loan agreement with an unrelated third party that earned interest at the 90-day bankers’ acceptance 
rate plus 11.5% per annum plus a fee of 1% on the outstanding balance, which was collateralized by a first charge on 
several real estate properties. On November 24, 2010, the Company had advanced $75,000 under this arrangement.  
The loan was fully repaid on November 26, 2012. The Company earned interest and fees in the amount of $8,992 for  
the year ended December 31, 2012 (2011 – $9,851).
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The Company has a loan agreement with a co-owner of a U.s. subsidiary that bears interest at 6% per annum. On july 31, 2012, 
the Company advanced Us$4,000 under the agreement. The Company earned interest of $106 for the year ended 
December 31, 2012.

The Company has a loan agreement with Woodbridge square, a Morguard ReIT co-ownership, that bears interest at prime 
plus 1.5% on the outstanding balance. As at December 31, 2012, the Company had advanced $2,645 under the agreement. 
The Company earned interest of $45 for the year ended December 31, 2012, which was capitalized under the agreement.

The Company has a loan agreement with the MIl fund that bears interest at prime plus 1.25% on the outstanding balance. 
As at December 31, 2012, the Company had advanced $3,005 under the agreement. The Company earned interest of $14 
for the year ended December 31, 2012.

On December 20, 2012, the Company entered into an agreement to participate in a debt fund. The Company has committed 
up to $10,000 for investment in the debt fund. The total investment in the debt fund as at December 31, 2012, is $nil.

Loan Receivable – ClubLink
The Company has a revolving loan agreement with a related party, Clublink enterprises limited (“Clublink”). The agreement 
provides for borrowings or advances of up to $30,000. During the year ended December 31, 2012, there were no borrowings 
by either party under this agreement. During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company advanced $4,000 to Clublink, 
and the amount was repaid in full on february 4, 2011. The Company earned interest in the amount of $13 (see Note 18(b)). 

Mortgages Receivable
On september 29, 2010, the Company assumed at its carrying value plus accrued interest from Morguard ReIT a $2,000 
vendor take-back note receivable that had been issued to an unrelated third party as part of a disposition of a retail property. 
The note bears interest at an annual interest rate of 5.0%, matures on May 28, 2013, and is collateralized by the property. 
The Company earned interest in the amount of $100 for the year ended December 31, 2012 (2011 – $100).

NOTe 9

OTHER ASSETS 

Other assets consist of the following:

   december 31, December 31,
As at   2012 2011

Investments in publicly traded securities   $ 75,762 $ 84,400
Accrued pension benefit asset    60,342  45,921
Capital assets, net    45,418  15,529
Inventory    1,635  1,592
Inventory – land for residential development    10,570  6,764
Restricted cash    2,137  642
Other    –  175

    $ 195,864 $ 155,023

Business Combination
On November 15, 2012, the Company acquired a 94.8% interest in a Toronto area hotel for a total purchase price of 
$30,600. The acquisition has been accounted for as a business combination, and the following are the recognized 
amounts of identifiable assets acquired, measured at their respective fair values on the date of acquisition:

land     $ 5,405
building      21,445
furniture and fixtures      3,750

      $ 30,600
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The acquisition has been classified as other assets on the consolidated balance sheets, and the operating results from the 
hotel have been classified as other income (expense) on the consolidated statements of income. Acquisition related costs 
of $1,043 have been recorded in other income (expense).

Investments in Publicly Traded Securities
On january 31, 2012, the Company disposed of an investment in marketable securities, which were classified as available 
for sale, for proceeds of approximately $86,000 and realized a gain on disposition in the amount of $13,598 in the consolidated 
statements of income. The Company had previously reported on these securities an unrecognized gain of $11,734 in the 
consolidated statements of comprehensive income. The Company reinvested approximately $72,000 of the proceeds in 
securities of a separate public entity. 

NOTe 10

MORTGAGES PAYABLE

Mortgages payable, which are at fixed and floating rates, consist of the following:

   december 31, December 31,
As at   2012 2011

Mortgages payable   $ 1,555,683 $ 1,321,477
financing costs    (10,852)  (11,213)

    $ 1,544,831 $ 1,310,264

Current   $ 257,571 $ 107,599 
Non-current    1,287,260  1,202,665

    $ 1,544,831 $ 1,310,264 

Range of interest rates    2.99–7.33%  3.80–7.33%
Weighted average interest rate    4.70%  5.05%
estimated fair value of mortgages payable   $ 1,611,984 $ 1,431,532

floating rate mortgages in the amount of $138,027 as at December 31, 2012 (2011 – $142,092) are subject to interest rate 
swap agreements to acquire a fixed interest rate over the floating rate (see Note 26 for further details).

The aggregate principal repayments and balances maturing of the mortgages payable in the next five years and thereafter 
are as follows:

           Weighted 
     Principal      Average 
     Instalment  balances    Contractual
     Repayments  Maturing  Total  Rate

2013   $ 34,467 $ 226,075 $ 260,542  4.40%
2014    27,023  239,884  266,907  5.11%
2015    22,580  90,948  113,528  4.46%
2016    23,639  10,634  34,273  4.71%
2017    21,292  311,689  332,981  5.59%
Thereafter        547,452  4.19%

        $ 1,555,683  4.70%

A significant percentage of the Company’s rental properties and related rental revenues have been pledged as collateral 
for the mortgages payable. 

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company completed financings in the amount of $292,811 at a weighted 
average interest rate of 3.37% and a weighted average term to maturity of approximately 10 years.
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The Company’s first mortgages are registered against specific real estate assets. These mortgages bear interest at rates 
ranging between 3.0% and 7.3% per annum with a weighted average interest rate of 4.70% (2011 – 5.05%) and mature 
between 2013 and 2026 with a weighted average term to maturity of 5.3 years.

NOTe 11

CONSTRUCTION FINANCING ON PROPERT Y UNdER dEVELOPMENT

The Company has construction financing available of $145,000 collateralized by a property under development that bears 
floating rate interest maturing on December 19, 2015. As at December 31, 2012, the Company had borrowed $17,334  
(2011 – $nil) in construction financing.

NOTe 12

LOANS PAYABLE

The Company entered into a demand loan agreement with Paros enterprises limited that provides for the Company to 
borrow up to $20,000. The balance owing as at December 31, 2012, was $11,985 and bears interest at a weighted average 
interest rate of 3.30%.

NOTe 13

MORGUARd RESIdENTIAL REIT UNITS

As described in Note 5 above, the Units of the ReIT have been presented as liabilities. since the Units are redeemable at 
any time, in whole or in part, on demand by the holders, upon receipt of the redemption notice by the ReIT, all rights to and 
under the Units tendered for redemption shall be surrendered and the holder shall be entitled to receive a price per Unit 
equal to the lesser of (i) 90% of the market price of the Units on the principal exchange market on which the Units are listed 
or quoted for trading during the 10 consecutive trading days ending immediately prior to the date on which the Units were 
surrendered for redemption and (ii) 100% of the closing market price on the principal exchange market on which the Units 
are listed or quoted for trading on the redemption date. 

As at December 30, 2012, due to the change in the market value of the Morguard Residential ReIT Units, the Company 
recorded a liability of $165,390. for the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company recorded a fair value loss on the 
Morguard Residential ReIT Units in the consolidated statements of income of $3,883, which includes both a mark to 
market gain of $1,281 on the Units and the expensing of the distributions made to external unitholders of $5,164. 

NOTe 14

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE ANd ACCRUEd LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consist of the following:

   december 31, December 31,
As at   2012 2011

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   $ 67,123 $ 48,946
Tenant deposits    12,474  11,542
Income taxes payable    14,543  5,215
Other    3,176  3,315

    $ 97,316 $ 69,018
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NOTe 15

BANK INdEBTEdNESS 

The Company has credit facilities and operating lines totalling $177,000 (2011 – $157,146). The Company’s investment  
in Morguard ReIT, marketable securities, amounts receivable, inventory, capital assets and a fixed charge security on 
specific properties have been pledged as collateral on these credit facilities and operating lines. As at December 31, 2012, 
the Company had borrowed $144,921 (2011 – $75,539) and issued letters of credit in the amount of $10,811 (2011 – 
$15,741) related to these facilities.

The bank credit agreements include certain restrictive covenants and undertakings by the Company. As at December 31, 2012, 
the Company is in compliance with all covenants and undertakings. As the bank indebtedness is current, the carrying value 
of the debt at December 31, 2012, approximates its fair value.

NOTe 16

SHAREHOLdERS’ EQUIT Y

(a) Share Capital Authorized

Unlimited common shares, no par value
Unlimited preference shares, no par value, issuable in series

Issued and fully paid common shares (in thousands)   Number Amount

balance, December 31, 2010    12,966 $ 115,379
shares repurchased through the Company’s NCIb    (18)  (162)
Dividend reinvestment plan    1  72

balance, December 31, 2011    12,949 $ 115,289
shares repurchased through the Company’s NCIb    (178)  (1,589)
Dividend reinvestment plan    1  151

Balance, december 31, 2012    12,772 $ 113,851

The Company had the approval of the TsX under its normal course issuer bid (“NCIb”) to purchase up to 648,314  
common shares. The program expired on september 21, 2012. On september 22, 2012, the Company obtained the 
approval of the TsX under its NCIb to purchase up to 640,225 common shares. The current program expires on 
september 21, 2013.

Total dividends paid during the year ended December 31, 2012, amounted to $7,708 or $0.60 per share (2011 – $7,777  
or $0.60 per share). On March 6, 2013, the Company declared common share dividends of $0.15 per share, to be paid  
in the first quarter of 2013.

(b) Stock Appreciation Rights (“SARs”) Plan
The Company has a sARs plan, which entitles specified officers of Morguard and affiliated entities and directors to receive 
a cash payment equal to the excess of the market price of Morguard’s common shares at the time of exercise over the 
grant-date price of the right. The sARs granted will vest equally over 10 years. On March 20, 2008, 200,000 sARs were 
granted at an exercise price of $30.74, and on November 2, 2010, 55,000 sARs were granted at an exercise price of $43.39. 
During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company recorded a compensation expense of $4,192 (2011 – $2,082)  
for the 225,000 sARs relating to its officers and directors, which is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in 
the consolidated balance sheets. The cost of 30,000 sARs granted to two officers of Morguard ReIT will be borne by 
Morguard ReIT.
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The fair value for the sARs was calculated using the black-scholes option pricing model. In determining the fair value of 
the sARs, management is required to make assumptions that could have a material impact on the valuation. The following 
are the assumptions that were used in determining the fair value: dividend yield of 0.52% (2011 – 0.79%), expected volatility 
of approximately 36.15% (2011 – 37.96%), an expected life of 10 years and the 10-year bank of Canada bond rate of 1.82% 
(2011 – 1.96%).

(c) Stock Options
A total of 490,100 stock options (2011 – 490,100) are available for future grants in the employee stock option plan.  
The options vest 20% on each anniversary from the date of grant. There are currently no stock options outstanding.

(d) Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
As at December 31, 2012 and 2011, accumulated other comprehensive income consists of the following amounts:

   december 31, December 31,
As at   2012 2011

Actuarial gain on defined benefit pension plans   $ 31,317 $ 20,862
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale marketable securities    1,347  11,734
loss on interest rate swap agreement    (10,378)  (11,369)
Amortization of cash flow hedge    6,433  5,645
Unrealized foreign currency translation (loss) gain    (1,696)  749

    $ 27,023 $ 27,621

NOTe 17

INTEREST EXPENSE

The components of interest expense are as follows: 

Years ended December 31   2012 2011

Interest on mortgages   $ 66,056 $ 65,272
Interest on bank indebtedness    821  2,289
Amortization of deferred direct financing costs    2,942  2,763
Amortization of cash flow hedge    740  697
Interest on loans payable and other    581  151

    $ 71,140 $ 71,172

Interest expense capitalized to properties under development amounted to $1,051 for the year ended December 31, 2012 
(2011 – $137).
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NOTe 18

REL ATEd- PART Y TR ANSACTIONS

In addition to the related-party transactions disclosed in Note 8 and Note 12, related-party transactions also include the 
following:

(a) Morguard REIT 
Management and Advisory Fees
In the ordinary course of business, the Company derives management fees and other revenues from Morguard ReIT, 
which is subject to significant influence. Transactions with Morguard ReIT are recorded at the exchange amount, which is 
based on the consideration given for the service provided. As at December 31, 2012, a net amount of $3,021 is receivable 
from Morguard ReIT (2011 – $1,532). such transactions with Morguard ReIT for the years ended December 31, 2012  
and 2011, are summarized as follows:

Years ended December 31   2012 2011

Consolidated statements of income:
Property management and other fees   $ 8,148 $ 7,541
leasing fees    5,783  4,833
Property administration fees    5,116  3,175
Rental expense    (323)  (340)

    $ 18,724 $ 15,209

(b) ClubLink Enterprises Limited
The Company provides Clublink with managerial and consulting services for its business and the business of its 
subsidiaries. Mr. K. (Rai) sahi is Chairman and Chief executive Officer and is a major shareholder of Clublink through his 
holding company, Paros enterprises limited (“Paros”). Mr. sahi is Chairman and Chief executive Officer of the Company. 
Paros is the majority shareholder of the Company. The Company received a management fee of $240 for year ended 
December 31, 2012 (2011 – $240) from Clublink under a contractual agreement. 

(c) Share/Unit Purchase Loans
share/unit purchase loans to officers and employees of the Company, its subsidiaries and Morguard ReIT of $6,475  
(2011 – $5,930) are outstanding as at December 31, 2012. The loans are collateralized by the shares of the Company,  
the units of Morguard ReIT and the units of Morguard Residential ReIT and are interest-bearing computed at the Canadian 
prime interest rate and are due between 2013 and 2015. The fair market value as at December 31, 2012, of the shares/
units held as collateral is $69,312.

(d) Renasant Financial Partners Ltd.
The Company derives management and consulting fees from Renasant financial Partners ltd. (“Renasant”). Paros is the 
majority shareholder of Renasant. The Company received a management fee of $120 for the year ended December 31, 2012 
(2011 – $120) under a contractual agreement. 

(e) Key Management Compensation
Key management personnel are those people having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling  
the activities of the Company, directly or indirectly. The Company’s key management personnel include the Chairman and 
Chief executive Officer, Vice President, President and Chief Operating Officer (MIl), Chief financial Officer, executive 
Vice President, Retail Asset Management (MIl), and executive Vice President, Office/Industrial Asset Management (MIl). 
The compensation paid or payable to key management for employee services is shown below:

Years ended December 31   2012 2011

salaries and other short-term employee benefits   $ 4,308 $ 3,738
sARs    3,146  1,602

    $ 7,454 $ 5,340



712012 AnnuAl RepoRt

 
notes to consolidAted finAnciAl stAtements

NOTe 19

INCOME TA XES

(a) The following are the major components of income tax expense: 

Years ended December 31   2012 2011

Current income tax expense (recovery)
based on taxable income of the current year   $ 35,784 $ 26,495
Adjustments with respect to prior years    (1,310)  334

     34,474  26,829

deferred income tax expense (benefit)
Origination and reversal of temporary differences    24,695  53,144
benefit arising from a previously unrecognized tax loss or temporary difference    (3,532)  217

     21,163  53,361

Income tax expense recorded in the income statement    55,637  80,190

deferred income tax expense (other comprehensive income)
Actuarial gain on defined benefit pension plans    4,277  1,114
loss on interest rate swap agreement    1,459  (405)
Amortization of cash flow hedge    257  175
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale marketable securities    494  –

     6,487  884

Total provision for income taxes   $ 62,124 $ 81,074

(b) The Company’s effective income tax rate is derived as follows: 

Years ended December 31   2012 2011

Income taxes at statutory rate   $ 117,940 $ 103,860
Rate changes    (27,374)  (27,519)
Taxes related to prior years    (4,843)  (236)
Permanent differences    243  273
Capital gains    (2,600)  (52)
losses not benefited    314  1,425
Non-taxable ReIT income    (28,266)  –
equity    395  1,010
Other    (172)  1,429

    $ 55,637 $ 80,190

(c) The following are the major components of deferred income tax liabilities:

  december 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

As at  Canada U.S. Total Canada U.s. Total

Real estate assets  $ 200,944 $ 40,420 $ 241,364 $ 198,967 $ 37,782 $ 236,749
Investments   95,298  –  95,298  79,882  –  79,882
Accumulated other comprehensive income   9,755  –  9,755  3,269  –  3,269
Deferred financing costs   222  –  222  (57)  –  (57)
Pension asset   8,938  –  8,938  8,857  –  8,857
Others    (614)  (237)  (851)  (335)  (531)  (866)

Total net deferred income tax liabilities  $ 314,543 $ 40,183 $ 354,726 $ 290,583 $ 37,251 $ 327,834
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(d) The following are the components of the movement in deferred income tax expense: 

Years ended December 31   2012 2011

Real estate assets   $ 4,614 $ 45,926
Investments    15,416  9,678
Deferred financing costs    279  (72)
Pension asset    82  100
Others    772  (2,271)

    $ 21,163 $ 53,361

(e) Reconciliation of the deferred income tax liabilities at the beginning and end of the current financial period is as follows:

    2012 2011

balance at january 1   $ 327,834 $ 272,638
Provision reflected in consolidated statements of income    21,163  53,361
Provision reflected in consolidated statements of other comprehensive income    6,487  884
foreign currency translation    (758)  951

balance at December 31   $ 354,726 $ 327,834

(f) The Company has U.s. net operating losses of approximately Us$25,133 (2011 – Us$26,546) that have not been 
recognized as it is not probable that taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized. These losses expire 
in varying years commencing in 2026. The Company has other U.s. temporary differences for which no deferred tax asset 
is recognized of approximately Us$9,809 (2011 – Us$8,614). These other temporary differences have no expiration date.

(g) The temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, for which the deferred tax 
liability has not been recognized, amount to $111,030 (2011 – $81,209).

(h) The Company regularly assesses the status of open tax examinations and its historical tax filing positions for the 
potential for adverse outcomes to determine the adequacy of the provision for income and other taxes. The Company 
believes that it has adequately provided for any tax adjustments that are more likely than not to occur as a result of  
ongoing tax examinations or historical filing positions.

NOTe 20

NET INCOME PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income per share:

Years ended December 31   2012 2011

Net income attributable to common shareholders   $ 389,443 $ 288,026

Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic and diluted    12,848  12,965

Net income per share – basic and diluted    $30.31  $22.22
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NOTe 21

CONSOLIdATEd STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Items Not Affecting Cash

    2012 2011

equity income from Morguard ReIT   $ (77,929) $ (68,153)
fair value gains on real estate properties    (226,070)  (180,226)
fair value gain on Morguard Residential ReIT Units    (1,281)  –
Amortization – capital assets    1,863  1,646
Amortization – cash flow hedge    740  697
Amortization – deferred financing    2,942  2,763
Amortization – tenant incentive    417  851
Amortization of fair value adjustments    (108)  (111)
Deferred income taxes    21,163  53,361
Gain on sale of marketable securities    (13,598)  –
Gain on sale of real estate property    (417)  94
stepped rent – adjustment for straight-line method    (1,211)  (1,213)
Other    (3,564)  (154)

    $ (297,053) $ (190,445)

(b) Net Change in Operating Assets and Liabilities 

    2012 2011

Amounts receivable   $ 558 $ (3,807)
Prepaid expenses and other    (14,796)  1,317
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities    30,443  3,236

Net change in operating assets and liabilities   $ 16,205 $ 746

(c) Supplemental Cash Flow Information

    2012 2011

Interest paid   $ 73,164 $ 68,840
Income taxes paid    27,987  26,003
Non-cash dividend issued under dividend reinvestment plan    151  72
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NOTe 22

EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS

The Company maintains a non-contributory defined benefit pension plan covering certain employees under the Morguard 
Corporation employee Retirement Plan (the “Morguard Plan”). This plan provides benefits based on length of service and 
final average earnings. There is only one active member since the majority of members were employed in the Company’s 
industrial products distribution business, which was sold in 1996. The pension obligations and related assets for the former 
employees remain part of the Company’s defined benefit pension plan. The most recent actuarial valuation was as of 
December 31, 2012.

effective january 1, 2008, the Morguard Plan was amended and restated in its entirety to consist of the existing defined 
benefit provisions and new defined contribution provisions. employees who accrued benefits under the Morguard Plan  
on December 31, 2007, will continue to participate in the defined benefit provisions of the Morguard Plan on and after 
january 1, 2008, and are not eligible to participate in the new defined contribution provisions. employees of the Company 
who were formerly employees of Morguard Residential Inc. and new employees of the Company participate under the 
defined contribution provisions upon completion of the applicable waiting period effective january 1, 2008. 

Morguard Investments limited employees’ Retirement Plan (the “MIl Plan”) is a defined benefit plan that provides benefits 
based on years of service, years of contributions and annual earnings.

effective january 1, 2008, all members of the MIl Plan ceased to accrue future benefits under the MIl Plan and 
commenced participation under the new defined contribution provisions of the Morguard Plan. No assets or liabilities will 
transfer from the MIl Plan to the new Morguard Plan with respect to benefits accrued to December 31, 2007, with respect 
to MIl Plan members. Accrued benefits under the MIl Plan will be determined using credited service and benefit 
entitlement as of December 31, 2007.

Membership is a requirement after a defined term of employment and age. funding of the MIl Plan is provided by contributions 
from Morguard Investments limited. Certain employees who commenced employment prior to january 1, 1997, elected to 
contribute to the MIl Plan and receive a higher benefit. The most recent actuarial valuation was as of December 31, 2012.

Details of the pension expense and year-end disclosures for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, are provided below:

 2012  2011

Assumptions for Disclosure – Years ended December 31    Company  MIL  Company  MIl

Discount rate    4.05%  4.05%  4.75%  4.75%
Rate of compensation increase    3.20%  3.20%  3.25%  3.25%

The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the Company’s benefit expenses for the years ended 
December 31, 2012 and 2011, are as follows:

 2012  2011

Assumptions for Disclosure – Years ended December 31    Company  MIL  Company  MIl

Discount rate    4.75%  4.75%  5.40%  5.40%
expected return on plan assets    4.50%  4.50%  5.50%  5.50%
Rate of compensation increase    3.25%  3.25%  3.50%  3.50%
expected average remaining service life    18 years  12 years  19 years  13 years
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Information about the Company’s defined benefit plans is as follows:

 december 31, 2012  December 31, 2011

As at    Company  MIL  Company  MIl

Accrued benefit obligations
balance at beginning of year   $ 60,195 $ 25,070 $ 58,087 $ 25,727
Current service cost    38  –  34  –
Interest cost    2,765  1,172  3,021  1,367
benefits paid    (4,314)  (991)  (4,054)  (792)
Actuarial loss (gain)    4,070  4,505  3,107  (1,232)

balance at end of year    62,754  29,756  60,195  25,070

Plan assets
fair value at beginning of year    103,343  29,463  97,753  27,099
expected return on plan assets    4,517  1,308  5,205  1,470
Actuarial gain    17,325  4,959  6,324  1,614
employer contributions    (2,035)  –  (1,885)  72
benefits paid    (4,314)  (991)  (4,054)  (792)

balance at end of year    118,836  34,739  103,343  29,463

surplus for funded plans    (56,082)  (4,983)  (43,148)  4,393
effect of asset limitation and minimum funding requirement   –  723  –  1,620

Net assets   $ (56,082) $ (4,260) $ (43,148) $ (2,773)

In 2012, MIl made incremental contributions of $nil to the defined benefit plan (2011 – $72), and the Company contributed 
$2,035 to the defined contribution plan (2011 – $1,885).

Details of the pension expense for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, are provided below:

 2012  2011

Years ended December 31    Company  MIL  Company  MIl

Current service cost   $ 38 $ – $ 34 $ –
Interest cost    2,765  1,172  3,021  1,367
expected return on plan assets    (4,517)  (1,308)  (5,205)  (1,470)

Net benefit plan income recorded in net income   $ (1,714) $ (136) $ (2,150) $ (103)

 2012
Years ended December 31

  2011

Plan Assets by Asset Category    Company  MIL  Company  MIl

equity securities    75%  75%  67%  67%
Debt securities    14%  14%  22%  22%
Other    11%  11%  11%  11%

     100%  100%  100%  100%

The Morguard Plan holds 362,618 shares of the Company and 105,263 units of Morguard ReIT.

Net benefit plan income is recorded in property management and administration costs.
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NOTe 23

COMMITMENTS ANd CONTINGENCIES

(a) Commitments
future minimum annual rental receipts on non-cancellable tenant operating leases are as follows:

   december 31, December 31,
As at   2012 2011

Not later than one year   $ 145,438 $ 125,579 
later than one year and not longer than five years    304,693  304,599
later than five years    251,883  229,134

    $ 702,014 $ 659,312 

future minimum annual rental payments for land leases, office premises and equipment operating leases that expire at 
various dates ending in 2069 are payable over the next five years and thereafter as follows:

2013     $ 5,304
2014      4,494
2015      4,328
2016      4,018
2017      3,874
Thereafter     $ 122,701

The Company is a lessee under three ground leases that expire at various dates ending in 2060. Annual rental expenses 
for each of the ground leases are as follows:

Ground lease #1

from july 1, 1990, to june 30, 2010     $ 2,779
from july 1, 2010, to june 30, 2030 fair market value of land at june 2010 multiplied by 6%
from july 1, 2030, to june 30, 2050 fair market value of land at june 2030 multiplied by 6%
from july 1, 2050, to june 30, 2060 fair market value of land at june 2050 multiplied by 6%

In accordance with the lease terms of Ground lease #1, the land rent cannot decrease at july 1, 2010, july 1, 2030,  
or july 1, 2050. Accordingly, the current rent expense of $2,779 represents the future minimum annual payment until  
the expiry of the ground lease. further details of the status of the rental reset that was scheduled for july 1, 2010,  
are disclosed below in the contingencies section of this note.

The Company has two other ground leases that expire between june 30, 2022, and july 21, 2069. The Company is 
required to pay an annual base rent totalling $319. The ground leases have various terms that require potential additional 
payments based on rent collected and cash flow.

The Company has entered into various leasing agreements and agreements for the development of properties. At 
December 31, 2012, committed leasing costs and capital expenditures are estimated to be $449 and $169, respectively.

(b) Contingencies
As indicated above, Ground lease #1, which expires on june 30, 2060, was scheduled to be reset to 6% of the fair market 
value of the land effective july 1, 2010. Also in accordance with the terms of the lease, since the lessor and the Company 
were not able to reach an agreement on the revised annual rental payment, the matter has been appointed to an arbitrator 
that will determine the revised annual rental. There are significant complexities involved in determining the fair market 
value of the land as the fair value will be determined without regard to the existing income producing property and the fact 
that Ground lease #1 has a remaining term of 50 years. since the final outcome of this matter cannot be predicted or 
estimated with certainty, the Company continues to reflect the previous rent expense of $2,779 per annum in the property 
operating expenses of the consolidated statements of income, which is based on the fair market value of the land at the 
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time of the last rental reset on july 1, 1990. As the arbitration proceedings progress, the Company will review and amend 
the amount of the rental expense as required. The final settlement of the proceedings in excess of amounts recorded will 
be charged to operations as and when such determination is made.

On september 4, 2012 an amendment was made to one of the Company’s ground leases. All existing terms of the 
agreement are still in place, but a provision has been added for the mandatory purchase of the land by the Company at  
the expiry date of the lease. The expiry date of the ground lease is May 31, 2022, and the purchase price will be the  
market value of the land two years prior to the expiry date.

The Company has issued irrevocable letters of credit relating to normal course development activity amounting to $12,082 
as at December 31, 2012 (2011 – $18,116).

In addition, the Company is contingently liable with respect to litigation, claims and environmental matters that arise  
from time to time, including those that could result in mandatory damages or other relief, which could result in significant 
expenditures. While the final outcome of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, in the opinion of management, 
any liability that may arise from such contingencies would not have a material adverse effect on the financial position or 
results of operations of the Company. Any settlement of claims in excess of amounts recorded will be charged to operations 
as and when such determination is made.

(c) Rent Control Regulations
In the province of Ontario, the Company is subject to, and believes it has complied with, the Residential Tenancies Act, 
2006 (Ontario). each year, the Ontario government determines the province’s residential rent increase for existing tenants. 
In 2012, the rental guideline increase was 3.1% (2011 – 0.7%).

NOTe 24

PROPORTIONATELY CONSOLIdATEd CO- OWNERSHIP INTERESTS

The following amounts, included in these consolidated financial statements, represent the Company’s proportionate share 
in co-ownership interests:

   december 31, December 31,
As at   2012 2011

Balance sheet
Assets
Non-current assets   $ 742,730 $ 641,436
Current assets    6,222  6,631

Total assets    748,952  648,067

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities    272,421  230,058
Current liabilities    21,821  26,616

Total liabilities    294,242  256,674

equity   $ 454,710 $ 391,393

Years ended December 31   2012 2011

Statement of operations
Revenue   $ 77,025 $ 75,317
expenses    51,961  49,892

Income before fair value changes on real estate properties    25,064  25,425
Fair value gains on real estate properties    51,214  48,678

Net income before income taxes   $ 76,278 $ 74,103
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NOTe 25

MANAGEMENT OF CAPITAL

The Company defines capital that it manages as the aggregate of its shareholders’ equity, Morguard Residential ReIT Units 
and interest-bearing debt less mortgages and loans receivable and cash and cash equivalents. The Company’s objective 
when managing capital is to ensure that the Company will continue as a going concern so that it can sustain daily 
operations and provide adequate returns to its shareholders.

The Company is subject to risks associated with debt financing, including the possibility that existing mortgages may not be 
refinanced or may not be refinanced on as favourable terms or with interest rates as favourable as those of the existing debt. 
The Company mitigates these risks by its continued efforts to stagger the maturity profile of its long-term debt, enhance the 
value of its real estate properties, maintain high occupancy levels and foster excellent relations with its lenders. The Company 
manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk 
characteristics of the underlying assets.

The total managed capital for the Company as at December 31, 2012 and 2011, is summarized below:

   december 31, December 31,
As at   2012 2011

Mortgages payable   $ 1,544,831 $ 1,310,264
Morguard Residential ReIT Units    165,390  –
bank indebtedness    144,921  75,539
Construction financing on property under development    17,344  –
loans payable    11,985  –
Cash and cash equivalents    (78,418)  (28,755)

     1,806,053  1,357,048
shareholders’ equity    2,049,679  1,684,555

    $ 3,855,732 $ 3,041,603

The Company monitors capital based on an interest coverage ratio and a debt to aggregate asset ratio and maintains  
a minimum level of consolidated equity. The Company’s policy for capital risk management is not externally imposed by 
lenders but represents requirements adhered to by management. The Company strives to maintain an interest coverage 
ratio of 1.8 times and a debt to aggregate asset ratio of no greater than 65%. 

Interest coverage ratio is defined as income before interest expense, non-controlling interest, income taxes, non-recurring 
gains or losses and amortization over interest expense. Debt to aggregate asset ratio is defined as mortgages and other 
debt payable over total consolidated assets of the Company plus the amount of accumulated amortization related to real 
estate and other assets.

The ratios at December 31, 2012 and 2011, were as follows:

   december 31, December 31,
As at   2012 2011

Interest coverage ratio    3.96X  3.66X
Debt to aggregate asset ratio    43.1%  40.3%
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NOTe 26

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ANd RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities comprise cash and cash equivalents, amounts receivable, 
mortgages and loans receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, bank indebtedness, mortgages payable and 
loan payable. fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities and discussion of risks associated with financial  
assets and liabilities are presented as follows.

Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, amounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and bank 
indebtedness approximate their carrying values due to the short-term maturity of those instruments. The fair value of 
mortgages and loans receivable is based on the current market conditions for financing loans with similar terms and risks. 
The loan payable is reflected at fair value since it is based on a floating interest rate and reflects the terms of current 
market conditions.

Mortgages payable are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method of amortization. The estimated fair 
values of long-term borrowings have been determined based on market information, where available, or by discounting 
future payments of interest and principal at estimated interest rates expected to be available to the Company at year-end. 

The fair value of the mortgages payable has been determined by discounting the cash flows of these financial obligations 
using December 31, 2012, market rates for debts of similar terms (Category level 2). based on these assumptions, the  
fair value as at December 31, 2012, of the mortgages payable before deferred financing costs is estimated at $1,611,784  
(2011 – $1,431,532) compared with the carrying value of $1,555,683 (December 31, 2011 – $1,321,477). The fair value of 
the mortgages payable varies from the carrying value due to fluctuations in interest rates since their issue.

During December 2008, the Company refinanced three real estate properties with floating rate mortgages. To mitigate the 
interest rate risk on the refinancing of these mortgages, the Company entered into three interest rate swap transactions to 
acquire a fixed rate over the floating rate. The swap transactions have an effective date of December 31, 2008, and mature on 
December 31, 2013. The outstanding balance of the floating rate mortgages as at December 31, 2012, amounts to $138,027. 

The fair value hierarchy of financial instruments measured at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets is as follows:

  december 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

As at  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 level 1 level 2 level 3

financial assets:
     Investments in publicly traded securities  $ 75,762 $ – $ – $ 84,400 $ – $ –
financial liabilities:
     Interest rate swap liability   –  2,264  –  –  4,715  –
     Morguard Residential ReIT Units   –  165,390  –  –  –  –
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Risks Associated With Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
The Company is exposed to financial risks arising from its financial assets and financial liabilities. The financial risks 
include market risk relating to interest rates and foreign exchange rates, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s overall 
risk management program focuses on establishing policies to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Company, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems 
are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Company’s activities. The Company aims to develop 
a disciplined control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

(a) Market Risk
Market risk, the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial assets or financial liabilities will fluctuate due to 
movements in market prices, comprises the following:

Interest Rate Risk
The Company is subject to the risks associated with debt financing, including the risk that mortgages and credit facilities 
will not be refinanced on terms as favourable as those of the existing indebtedness. Interest on the Company’s bank 
indebtedness and certain mortgages is subject to floating interest rates. for the year ended December 31, 2012, the increase 
or decrease in annual net income for each one percent change in interest rates on floating rate debt amounts to $1,557.

The Company’s objective of managing interest rate risk is to minimize the volatility of the Company’s income. As at 
December 31, 2012, interest rate risk has been minimized as the majority of long-term debt is financed at fixed interest 
rates with maturities scheduled over a number of years. Mortgages totalling $138,027 are subject to floating interest rates; 
however, the Company’s risk has been minimized as the Company entered into three interest rate swap transactions to 
acquire a fixed rate in substitution for the floating rate. 

Foreign Exchange Risk
The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk as it relates to its U.s. investments due to fluctuations in the exchange 
rate between Canadian and U.s. dollars. Changes in the exchange rate may result in a reduction or an increase of  
reported earnings and other comprehensive income. for the year ended December 31, 2012, a $0.05 change in the U.s.  
to Canadian dollar exchange rate would have resulted in a $737 change to net income or loss and a $8,364 change to 
comprehensive income or loss.

The Company’s objective of managing foreign exchange risk is to mitigate the exposure from fluctuations in the exchange rate 
by maintaining U.s. denominated debt against its U.s. assets. The Company currently does not hedge translation exposures.
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(b) Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial asset will default, resulting in the Company incurring a financial 
loss. A substantial portion of the Company’s amounts receivable is with retail tenants and individuals and is subject to 
normal industry credit risks.

The objective of managing credit risk is to mitigate exposure through the use of approved credit policies governing the 
Company’s credit practices that limit transactions according to counterparties’ credit quality. 

The carrying amount of amounts receivable is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the 
loss is recognized in the consolidated statements of income within property operating expenses. When a receivable 
balance is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance for doubtful accounts. subsequent recoveries  
of amounts previously written off are credited against operating expenses in the consolidated statements of income.

The following table sets forth details of trade receivables and the related allowance for doubtful accounts:

   december 31, December 31,
As at   2012 2011

Trade receivables   $ 2,911 $ 4,106
less: Allowance for doubtful accounts    (873)  (959)

Trade receivable, net   $ 2,038 $ 3,147

(c) Liquidity Risk
liquidity risk is the risk the Company will encounter difficulties in meeting its financial liability obligations. The Company will 
be subject to the risks associated with debt financing, including the risk that mortgages and credit facilities will not be able 
to be refinanced. The Company’s objectives in minimizing liquidity risk are to maintain appropriate levels of leverage on its 
real estate assets and to stagger the debt maturity profile. At December 31, 2012, the Company was holding cash and cash 
equivalents of $78,418 and had undrawn lines of credit available to it of $21,268.

The fair value of the interest rate swaps for the year ended December 31, 2012, is a loss position of $2,264 (2011 – $4,715), 
which is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. Included in other 
comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2012, is a gain net of deferred taxes of $992 (2011 – a loss of 
$1,620); deferred taxes amount to $1,460 (2011 – $405), which relates to the effective portion of the net change in fair 
value of the interest rate swaps.
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NOTe 27

SEGMENTEd INFORMATION

The Company’s real estate investments are defined to include property ownership and development and include a 
diversified portfolio of multi-unit residential, retail, office and industrial properties located in three major geographical 
locations across Canada, as well as the southeastern United states. The Company operates to ensure an appropriate  
mix of property type and geographical location.

 Canada  U.S.

   Multi-Unit    Office/  Multi-Unit  
Year ended December 31, 2012  Residential  Retail  Industrial  Residential  Retail  Total

Revenue from income 
   producing properties $ 103,850 $ 57,307 $ 77,182 $ 39,060 $ 36,316 $ 313,715
Property operating costs 
   and realty taxes  49,897  24,475  35,848  19,445  12,707  142,372

Net operating income $ 53,953 $ 32,832 $ 41,334 $ 19,615 $ 23,609 $ 171,343

 Canada  U.s.

   Multi-Unit    Office/  Multi-Unit  
Year ended December 31, 2011  Residential  Retail  Industrial  Residential  Retail  Total

Revenue from income 
   producing properties $ 99,932 $ 55,447 $ 76,126 $ 32,157 $ 33,603 $ 297,265
Property operating costs 
   and realty taxes  47,591  24,516  34,523  15,349  11,943  133,922

Net operating income $ 52,341 $ 30,931 $ 41,603 $ 16,808 $ 21,660 $ 163,343

 Canada  U.S.

 Multi-Unit  Office/ Multi-Unit
As at December 31, 2012 Residential Retail Industrial Residential Retail Other Total

Real estate properties $ 1,193,022 $ 461,720 $ 686,065 $ 641,758 $ 330,821 $ 15,697 $ 3,329,083
Mortgages payable  462,838  192,716  256,378  420,424  212,475  –  1,544,831

Additions to real estate 
   properties $ 43,964 $ 5,356 $ 63,685 $ 388,930 $ 9,307 $ 8,143 $ 519,385 

 Canada  U.s.

 Multi-Unit  Office/ Multi-Unit
As at December 31, 2011 Residential Retail Industrial Residential Retail Other Total

Real estate properties $ 969,036 $ 422,908 $ 620,763 $ 264,178 $ 327,029 $ 7,610 $ 2,611,524
Mortgages payable  460,437  198,732  265,019  166,154  219,922  –  1,310,264

Additions to real estate 
   properties $ 19,901 $ 7,138 $ 23,279 $ 22,085 $ 64,415 $ – $ 136,818
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NOTe 28

COMPAR ATIVE CONSOLIdATEd FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The comparative consolidated financial statements have been reclassified from the statements previously presented to 
conform to the presentation of the 2012 consolidated financial statements.

NOTe 29

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On february 25, 2013, Morguard Residential ReIT reached an agreement with a syndicate of underwriters co-led by  
RbC Capital Markets and TD securities to issue to the public, subject to regulatory approval, on a bought deal basis, 
8,270,000 Units at a price of $11.50 per Unit, representing gross proceeds of $95,105 and $60,000 aggregate principal 
amount of 4.65% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures due March 30, 2018 (the “Debentures”; collectively  
with the Units, the “Offering”). The Debentures are convertible at the option of the holder into Units of the ReIT at  
$15.50 per trust unit. 

The Company has agreed to purchase 870,000 Units and $5,000 aggregate principal amount of the Debentures.  
As at December 31, 2012, the Company owned a 57.1% effective interest in the ReIT through ownership of Units and  
Class b lP Units; after the Offering the Company will hold a 48.8% effective interest in the ReIT. 

The net proceeds from the Offering will be used to partially fund the acquisition of 3,752 multi-family residential units  
in the U.s. for gross consideration of Us$457,800 and for general trust purposes. The Offering is not conditional upon  
the closing of such acquisition. 
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